### MATRIX PROTEINASES IN LUNG INJURY IN THE PRETERM INFANT

#### KATARIINA CEDERQVIST

Pediatric Graduate School Hospital for Children and Adolescents and Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases Helsinki University Central Hospital, Institute of Dentistry University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

#### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in the Niilo Hallman Auditorium of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, on September  $1^{st}$ , 2006, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2006

SUPERVISED BY	Docent Sture Andersson, MD, PhD Hospital for Children and Adolescents University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
	Professor Timo Sorsa, DDS, PhD, Dipl Perio Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases Helsinki University Central Hospital, Institute of Dentistry University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
REVIEWED BY	Professor Jorma Keski-Oja, MD, PhD Molecular and Cancer Biology Research Program, Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland
	Professor Pekka Kääpä, MD, PhD Research Centre of Applied and Preventive Cardiovascular Medicine University of Turku Turku, Finland
OFFICIAL OPPONENT	Professor Kristina Bry, MD, PhD Department of Pediatrics University of Göteborg Göteborg, Sweden

ISBN 952-92-0729-8 (paperback) ISBN 952-10-3320-7 (PDF) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Helsinki 2006, Yliopistopaino

TO MY FAMILY

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATION	. 6
ABBREVIATIONS	. 7
ABSTRACT	. 8
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	. 10
1. Lung injury	. 10
1.1. Normal lung development	. 10
1.2. Lung injury in the preterm infant	. 10
1.2.1. Pathology of respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) and bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) .	. 12
1.2.2. Role of inflammation in lung injury in the preterm infant	. 12
1.3. Experimental hyperoxic lung injury in adult rat	. 13
2. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their inhibitors	. 15
2.1. Members of the MMP family	. 15
2.1.1. Collagenases	. 15
2.1.2. Gelatinases	. 16
2.2. Regulation of MMPs	. 17
2.2.1. Inhibition of MMPs	. 18
3. Matrix serine proteinases and their inhibitors	. 19
3.1. Trypsinogens and their inhibitors	. 20
3.1.1. Regulation of trypsin activity	. 20
3.1.2. Functions of trypsin	. 21
3.2. Serine proteinase signaling by activation of proteinase-activated receptors (PAR)	. 21
3.2.1. PAR <sub>2</sub>	. 22
4. Matrix proteinases in the lung	. 23
4.1. MMPs and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) in the lung	. 24
4.1.1. in lung development	. 24
4.1.2. in lung injury in the preterm infant	. 24
4.1.3. in animal models of BPD	. 25
4.1.4. in acute lung injury in adults	. 25
4.1.5. in chronic inflammatory airway diseases in adults	. 26
4.2. Serine proteinases and their inhibitors in the lung	. 27
4.2.1. Inflammatory cell-derived serine proteinases	. 27
4.2.2. Trypsin and trypsin-like proteinases	. 28
4.2.3. PAR <sub>2</sub>	. 28
AIMS OF THE STUDY	. 30

MATERIALS AND METHODS	31
1. Subjects and experimental animals	31
1.1. Patients in tracheal aspirate fluid (TAF) studies (I, II)	31
1.2. Autopsied subjects in immunohistochemistry studies (II, III)	33
1.3. Animals (IV)	33
2. Methods	35
2.1. Collection and analysis for dilution of TAF samples	35
2.2. Measurement of surfactant maturity	35
2.3. Experimental rat model of hyperoxic lung injury	35
2.3.1. Collection of lung samples	36
2.3.2. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL)	36
2.3.3. Myeloperoxidase activity in lung tissue	36
2.4. Zymography	36
2.5. Western blotting	36
2.6. Time-resolved immunofluorometric assays	37
2.7. Immunohistochemical analyses	37
2.7.1. Semiquantitative analysis	38
2.8. Statistical analyses	38
RESULTS	39
1. Lung injury in preterm infants (I, II, III)	39
1.1. MMP-2, MMP-8, MMP-9, and TIMP-2 in TAF (I)	39
1.2. Trypsin and tumor-associated trypsin inhibitor (TATI) in TAF (II)	41
1.3. Matrix proteinases and their inhibitors in TAF, and development of BPD (I, II)	43
1.4. Immunolocalization of trypsin-2 and PAR, in human lung (II, III)	43
1.4.1. during the perinatal period	43
1.4.2. in acute and chronic lung injury in preterm infants	44
2. Experimental hyperoxic lung injury in the rat (IV)	45
2.1. Characterization of MMP-2, -8, and -9, and trypsin in BAL fluid	45
2.2. Immunolocalization of MMP-8 and trypsin in rat lung	45
DISCUSSION	47
1. MMP-2, -8, and -9, and TIMP-2 in lung injury in preterm infants	47
2. Trypsin-1, and -2, and TATI in lung injury in preterm infants	49
2.1. PAR <sub>2</sub> in lung injury in preterm infants	50
3. MMP-2, -8, and -9 and trypsin in experimental hyperoxic lung injury in the rat	51
CONCLUSIONS	53
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	54
REFERENCES	56

### LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

I Cederqvist K, Sorsa T, Tervahartiala T, Maisi P, Reunanen K, Lassus P, Andersson S. Matrix metalloproteinases-2, -8, and -9 and TIMP-2 in tracheal aspirates from preterm infants with respiratory distress. *Pediatrics* 108:686-692, 2001

II Cederqvist K, Haglund C, Heikkilä P, Sorsa T, Tervahartiala T, Stenman UH, Andersson S. Pulmonary trypsin-2 in the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia in preterm infants. *Pediatrics* 112:570-577, 2003

III Cederqvist K, Haglund C, Heikkilä P, Hollenberg MD, Karikoski R, Andersson S. High expression of pulmonary proteinase-activated receptor 2 in acute and chronic lung injury in preterm infants. *Pediatr Res* 57: 831–836, 2005

IV Cederqvist K, Janer J, Tervahartiala T, Sorsa T, Haglund C, Salmenkivi K, Stenman U-H, Andersson S. Up-regulation of trypsin and mesenchymal-MMP-8 during development of hyperoxic lung injury in the rat. *Pediatr Res* (in press)

Reprinted here by permission of the publishers.

### ABBREVIATIONS

ARDS	acute respiratory distress syndrome
BAL	bronchoalveolar lavage
BALF	bronchoalveolar lavage fluid
BM	basement membrane
BPD	bronchopulmonary dysplasia
ECM	extracellular matrix
HAT	human airway trypsin-like protease
IFMA	immunofluorometric assay
IL	interleukin
kD	kilodalton
L/S ratio	lecithin/sphingomyelin ratio
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
PAR	proteinase-activated receptor
RDS	respiratory distress syndrome
SC	secretory component of immunoglobulin-A
SLPI	secretory leukocyte proteinase inhibitor
TAF	tracheal aspirate fluid
TATI	tumor-associated trypsin inhibitor
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-α
tPA	tissue-type plasminogen activator
uPA	urokinase type plasminogen activator

### ABSTRACT

During inflammation, excess production and release of matrix proteinases, including matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and serine proteinases, may result in dysregulated extracellular proteolysis leading to development of tissue damage. Injurious inflammatory pulmonary reaction may play an important role in the pathogenesis of bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD). The aims of the present study were to evaluate involvement of MMPs and serine proteinase trypsin in acute and chronic lung injury in preterm infants and to study the role of MMPs and trypsin in development of acute lung injury by means of an animal model of hyperoxic lung injury.

Samples of tracheal aspirate fluid (TAF) were collected during the early postnatal period from preterm infants with respiratory distress. Molecular forms of MMP-2, -8, and -9, and their specific inhibitor, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP)-2, were identified by Western blotting

and their relative levels by densitometry. Concentrations of trypsinogen-1, and -2, and tumor-associated trypsin inhibitor (TATI) were measured by immunofluorometry. Expression of trypsin-2 and proteinaseactivated receptor 2 (PAR<sub>2</sub>) in lung tissue studied by immunohistochemistry was performed on autopsy lung specimens from fetuses, from preterm infants with respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) or BPD, and from newborn infants who had died for nonpulmonary reasons. In the experimental study, rats were exposed to >95% oxygen for 24, 48, and 60 h, or room air. Expression of trypsin, MMP-2, MMP-8, and MMP-9 was studied in samples of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) by zymography and Western blotting. Immunohistochemistry for trypsin and MMP-8 was performed on pulmonary samples.

Higher MMP-8 and lower TIMP-2 appeared in TAF from preterm infants with more severe acute respiratory distress.

Preterm infants subsequently developing BPD had higher MMP-8 levels during the early postnatal period than did those who survived without it. Low TIMP-2 levels during the early postnatal period were associated with poor respiratory outcome. We found that high pulmonary concentrations of trypsinogen-2 early postnatally were associated with the severity of acute lung injury and subsequent development of BPD. Immunohistochemistry revealed the expression of trypsin-2 in bronchial epithelium; in preterm infants with prolonged RDS, also in alveolar epithelium. Since trypsin-2 is potent activator of PAR, a G-protein coupled receptor involved in inflammation, we next studied the expression of  $PAR_2$  in the lung. We observed that PAR, co-localized with trypsin-2 in bronchoalveolar epithelium, and a higher level of PAR, immunoreactivity was detectable in bronchoalveolar epithelium of preterm infants with prolonged RDS than in newborn infants without lung disorders. In experimental animals, a rapid increase in BALF levels of trypsin and MMP-8 appeared early in the course of hyperoxic lung injury. By immunohistochemistry, strong expression of trypsin was detectable in alveolar epithelium, and MMP-8 was predominantly localized in macrophages at 48 and 60 hours of hyperoxia.

In conclusion, high levels of MMP-8 and trypsin-2 in TAF early postnatally are associated with the severity of acute lung injury and subsequent development of BPD in preterm infants. In the injured preterm lung, trypsin-2 co-localizes with PAR<sub>2</sub> in bronchoalveolar epithelium, suggesting that PAR<sub>2</sub> activated by high levels of trypsin-2 may be involved in lung inflammation associated with development of BPD. The marked increase in pulmonary expression of MMP-8 and trypsin early in the course of experimental hyperoxic lung injury suggests that these enzymes play a role in the development of acute lung injury.

### **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### 1. LUNG INJURY

#### 1.1. Normal lung development

The normal development of the human lung can be divided into the following 5 stages (reviewed in Bland and Coalson 2000): 1) Embryonic stage (0 to 7 weeks), development of airways to the level of bronchopulmonary segments; 2) Pseudoglandular stage (5 to 17 weeks), a phase characterized by branching of the airway and arterial tree down to the preacinar level; 3) Canalicular stage (16 to 26 weeks), a phase when prospective gasexchanging tissue is formed as the peripheral cuboidal cells start to differentiate into type I and type II cells, and primitive interstitium is canalized by multiplication of capillaries; 4) Saccular stage (24 to 36 weeks), during which peripheral airspaces expand at the expense of the intervening interstitium, and secondary crests containing a double capillary layer start to grow into the airspace from the saccular walls, a process called septation; and 5) Alveolar stage (from week 36 to 2 years postnatally), the time of alveolarization, characterized by extension and thinning of the secondary crests and fusion of capillaries into a single medial layer to form alveoli (Figure 1). The process of alveolar formation, especially septation, is a critical phase of lung development coordinated by multiple interactions between epithelial and interstitial cells, microvascular lung components, and extracellular matrix (ECM) (Roth-Kleiner and Post 2005).

#### 1.2. Lung injury in the preterm infant

Within the first hours of life preterm infants are at risk of developing respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) which is primarily due to deficiency of the surfactant system resulting in failure of airspace expansion (Northway 2000). In preterm infants, RDS is the most common cause of acute lung injury and respiratory failure, and these infants often need ventilatory support and treatment with supplemental oxygen. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) is a chronic lung disease that develops in preterm infants exposed to multiple injurious factors including baroand volutrauma, oxygen toxicity, pulmonary inflammatory response, and perinatal infection (Jobe and Bancalari 2001, Speer 2003).

When BPD was first described in 1967 by Northway *et al.*, the infants of 31 to 34 weeks of gestation had severe RDS, and were treated with prolonged mechanical ventilation and high inspired oxygen concentrations. With the advent of antenatal glucocorticoids and postnatal surfactant therapy, risk for severe RDS has decreased, and development of BPD is now infrequent in infants of more than 1200 g birth weight or with gestations exceeding 32 wk (Lemons *et al.* 2001, Bancalari *et al.* 2003). Concurrently, the survival rate of smaller and more immature infants has markedly increased, and BPD continues to be a major cause of mortality and morbidity in



**Figure 1.** Human lung in the **(A)** pseudoglandular (fetus, gestational age 14 weeks), **(B)** canalicular (fetus, gestational age 21 weeks), **(C)** saccular (newborn, gestational age 26 weeks, age at death 2 hours), and **(D)** alveolar stage (newborn, gestational age 40 weeks, age at death 1 day). Arrows indicate secondary crests; as, airspace; br, bronchiole.

very low birth weight (VLBW; birth weight  $\leq 1500$  g), and especially extremely low birth weight (ELBW;  $\leq 1000$  g) infants born at < 28 weeks of gestation (Stevenson *et al.* 1998, Lemons *et al.* 2001).

With the change in clinical presentation of BPD, the criteria defining BPD have been revised. The most widely used definitions in the literature are the need for supplemental oxygen at the postnatal age of 28 days with radiographic changes (Bancalari *et al.* 1979), and the definition by Shennan *et al.* in 1988. The latter suggested that the requirement of supplemental oxygen at 36 gestational weeks with characteristic radiographic changes was a better predictor of abnormal pulmonary outcome in VLBW infants with gestational ages of 30 weeks or less (Shennan *et al.* 1988). Using the 36 weeks' definition, approximately 44% of the surviving ELBW infants nowadays develop BPD (Ehrenkranz *et al.* 2005). In 2000, a severity-based consensus definition of BPD was suggested with differing criteria for infants born at gestational ages of greater or less than 32 weeks (Jobe and Bancalari 2001).

In lungs of preterm infants who have died of RDS, the autopsy shows atelectasis, hyaline membranes in the terminal airways and airspaces, and necrosis and desquamation of alveolar and bronchiolar epithelial cells, as well as alveolar and interstitial edema (reviewed by Coalson 2000).

In preterm infants with RDS, BPD appears to proceed as a continuous process from acute lung injury of the first few postnatal days through proliferative and reparative phases to chronic disease (Cherukupalli *et al.* 1996). The proliferative and reparative phases occur during the first 2 weeks following acute lung injury, and are characterized by regeneration of alveolar epithelium by alveolar type II cells, high numbers of inflammatory cells in the airspaces, and increasing numbers of myofibroblasts surrounding the airspaces (Toti *et al.* 1997).

Before the use of antenatal glucocorticoids and postnatal surfactant, the pathology of fully evolved BPD was characterized by altered inflation pattern of atelectasis and overinflation, severe airway epithelial injury with squasmous metaplasia, hypertrophy of airway smooth muscle, widespread fibrosis, and vascular hypertensive lesions (Coalson 2000). The introduction of surfactant treatment and the prenatal use of antenatal glucocorticoids, coupled with advances in mechanical ventilation, have resulted in the new BPD pathology of the more immature lung showing enlarged airspaces with decreased alveolar and capillary development; whereas interstitial hypercellularity and fibroproliferation are variable, and milder airway lesions are mainly detectable in infants with severe disease (Coalson 2003).

## *1.2.2 Role of inflammation in lung injury in the preterm infant*

Multiple factors are involved in the development of BPD, including immaturity, barotrauma and volutrauma, oxidative stress, pulmonary inflammation, antenatal and postnatal infection, and patent ductus arteriosus (Jobe and Bancalari 2001, Bancalari et al. 2003, Saugstad 2003, Speer 2003). Growing evidence suggests that an injurious inflammatory pulmonary reaction followed by dysregulated reparative processes play an important role in the pathogenesis of BPD (Speer 2003). The inflammatory process is triggered early by initial trauma caused by various possible factors such as resuscitation, initiation of mechanical ventilation, and oxygen toxicity. Some very small preterm infants, however, initially have no RDS, or only mild respiratory disease, but after a few days or weeks show progressive deterioration in lung function and increased ventilatory and oxygen requirements (Lemons et al. 2001, Bancalari et al. 2003). In these infants, the initial hits may be exposure to chorioamnionitis or an early postnatal systemic or pulmonary infection, or both (Watterberg et al. 1996, Jobe 2003).

The inflammatory pulmonary reaction is characterized by early accumulation of inflammatory cells, production of multiple cytokines and chemokines, increased expression of adhesion molecules on endothelial and epithelial cells, secretion of proteinases and toxic oxygen radicals, and increased microvascular permeability (Speer 2003).

Within the first few days of life, neutrophils and macrophages accumulate in the lungs of preterm infants with RDS, and greater numbers of these cells have been demonstrated in airway aspirates from infants who subsequently develop BPD than from those who survive without it (Merritt *et al.*)

1983, Ogden *et al.* 1984, Groneck *et al.* 1994, Murch *et al.* 1996). In preterm infants who recover from RDS, the neutrophil counts in airway aspirates decline rapidly to normal by the end of the first week, whereas in those who develop BPD, the number of neutrophils and macrophages remains elevated for weeks (Ogden *et al.* 1984, Groneck *et al.* 1994, Murch *et al.* 1996).

In lung lavage fluids from preterm infants developing BPD increased levels of chemotactic factors such as interleukin (IL)-8, anaphylatoxin C5a, and macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 $\alpha$ , as well as proinflammatory cytokines including IL-1 $\beta$ , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ , IL-6, are detectable during the first and second postnatal weeks (Groneck *et al.* 1994, Kotecha *et al.* 1996, Murch *et al.* 1996).

During this inflammatory process, production and release of potent proteinases by activated inflammatory cells and lung resident cells are increased, and these enzymes may play an important role in the development of tissue injury (Speer 2003). The role of proteolytic injury in the development of BPD was first suggested by Merritt et al., who in 1983 demonstrated in airway aspirates from preterm infants who subsequently developed BPD an imbalance between neutrophil elastase and its inhibitor  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin (also called  $\alpha_1$ -proteinase inhibitor).

The involvement of inflammation in disrupted lung alveolarization in these infants is supported by findings in animal models of BPD (Warner *et al.* 1998, Coalson *et al.* 1999, Wagenaar *et al.* 2004). At birth, the murine lung is at the saccular stage of lung development, with alveolarization taking place during the first 2 weeks of life. Prolonged exposure of newborn mice and rats to hyperoxia interferes with the process of septation and results in chronic lung injury with pathological changes similar to those

seen in infants with BPD (Warner et al. 1998, Wagenaar et al. 2004). In these animals, the pulmonary inflammatory response develops during the first week of exposure, and persists into the second week; it is characterized by influx of neutrophils and macrophages, by interstitial and alveolar edema, and by induced synthesis of various cytokines, chemokines, and proteinases (Warner et al. 1998, Wagenaar et al. 2004). The role of inflammation in the development of BPD has also been evidenced in the immature baboon model of BPD, which is characterized by preterm birth at the canalicular stage of lung development, comparable to the 24- to 26-week human infant, by use of antenatal glucocortics and postnatal prophylactic surfactant, coupled with appropriate oxygenation and positive pressure ventilation (Coalson et al. 1999).

## **1.3.** Experimental hyperoxic lung injury in adult rat

Hyperoxia-induced lung injury (exposure to >95% oxygen) is a widely used model of acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). In the rat, hyperoxic lung injury is characterized by damage to the alveolar-capillary barrier with subsequent increased pulmonary vascular permeability, progressive inflammation, and pulmonary edema. The early stages of oxygen toxicity begin with an initiation phase, occurring within the first 40 hours of hyperoxia exposure, in which are few demonstrable morphologic changes (Crapo et al. 1980). The first signs of increased alveolar-capillary permeability are detected at 48 hours (Royston et al. 1990). Lung inflammation evident by infiltration of neutrophils into the lung interstitium occurs after 48 hours (Nishio et al. 1998). Increased pulmonary expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) plays an

important role in subsequent neutrophil transmigration into the airspace (Nishio *et al.* 1998) where high numbers of these cells as well as alveolar macrophages can be detected after 60 hours of oxygen exposure (Barry and Crapo 1985, Narasaraju *et al.* 2003). Severe tissue injury resulting from direct oxidative

cell damage by increased reactive oxygen species and excessive inflammation leads to interstitial and alveolar edema at 60 hours and eventually to death usually within 72 hours of exposure (Crapo *et al.* 1980, Royston *et al.* 1990, Pagano and Barazzone-Argiroffo 2003).



**Figure 2.** Domain structure of MMPs. The domain organization of MMPs is as indicated: S, signal peptide; Pro, propeptide; Cat, catalytic domain; Zn, active-site zinc; Hpx, hemopexin domain; Fn, fibronectin domain; I, type I transmembrane domain; G, GPI anchor; Cp, cytoplasmic domain; V, vitronectin insert; Ca, cysteine array region; and Ig, IgG-like domain. A furin-cleavage site is depicted as a black band between propeptide and catalytic domains. Modified from Visse and Nagase (2003).

The matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a family of structurally and functionally related endopeptidases capable of degrading almost all components of the ECM and basement membranes (BM) (Birkedal-Hansen et al. 1993). In addition to their role in destruction and remodeling of the ECM, MMPs are important regulators of the functions of various biologically active molecules such as proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and serine proteinase inhibitors (Vu and Werb 2000, Stamenkovic 2003, Parks et al. 2004). Thus, MMPs are involved in many physiological and pathological processes including embryonic development, inflammation, immunity, and cancer (Vu and Werb 2000, Stamenkovic 2003, Parks et al. 2004). The catalytic activity of MMPs is controlled at several points, e.g., at the level of transcription, by activation of the secreted zymogens (proMMPs), and through inhibition of the active enzyme by several endogenous inhibitors, of which the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are the most important (Nagase and Woessner 1999).

In humans, to date, the number of MMPs is 23 (Nagase *et al.* 2006). All MMPs share a basic domain structure comprising 1) a signal peptide that targets them for secretion, 2) a propeptide with a cysteine residue which ligates the catalytic zinc ion for preservation of latency, and 3) a catalytic domain containing the zinc-binding site (Birkedal-Hansen *et al.* 1993, Nagase and Woessner 1999). Most of the MMPs also have a hinge region and a carboxy-terminal hemopexin-like domain, both of which are lacking in MMP-7, -23, and -26. In addition, some domains are restricted to subgroups of MMPs, such

as gelatin-binding domains present in the catalytic domain of the gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9). These domains contain repeats of fibronectin motifs which facilitate enzyme binding to gelatin. Of the six membrane-type MMPs (MT-MMPs), four (MMP-14, -15, -16, and -24) have transmembrane and intracellular domains, whereas two (MMP-17 and -25) have glycosylphosphatidylinosi tol (GPI) anchors, which target them to the cell surface (Nagase *et al.* 2006) (Figure 2).

#### 2.1. Members of the MMP family

MMPs are divided into 6 subgroups based on their structural characteristics and substrate specificity: collagenases (MMP-1, MMP-8, and MMP-13), gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9), stromelysins (MMP-3, MMP-10, and MMP-11), matrilysins (MMP-7 and MMP-26), MT-MMPs (MMP-14, MMP-15, MMP-16, MMP-17, MMP-24, MMP-25), and other MMPs (MMP-12, MMP-24, MMP-25), and other MMPs (MMP-12, MMP-27, MMP-28) (Birkedal-Hansen *et al.* 1993, Nagase *et al.* 2006).

#### 2.1.1. Collagenases

MMP-1, MMP-8, and MMP-13 (collagenase-1, -2, and -3) belong to the collagenase subgroup of the MMPs. A unique feature of these enzymes is their capacity to cleave native interstitial collagens I, II, and III at a specific site of the alpha chain. This cleavage results in generation of <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> amino terminal and <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> carboxy terminal fragments, which, at body temperature, denature rapidly into gelatin, and are subsequently degraded by gelatinolytic MMPs. MMP-1 prefers type III collagen, whereas MMP-8 preferentially cleaves type I and II collagens, and MMP-13 cleaves type II collagen more efficiently than other fibrillar collagens (Birkedal-Hansen *et al.* 1993, Knäuper *et al.* 1996). Collagenases can also cleave various other components of ECM, as well as nonmatrix proteins such as serine proteinase inhibitors,  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin, and certain inflammatory mediators (McQuibban *et al.* 2002, Balbin *et al.* 2003, Owen *et al.* 2004).

MMP-1 and MMP-13 are mainly expressed *in vivo* during the active ECM remodeling associated with physiological situations such as fetal bone development and tissue repair, as well as various pathological conditions including inflammatory diseases and malignant tumors (Inada *et al.* 2004, Ala-aho and Kähäri 2005, Pardo and Selman 2005).

As for MMP-8, during early differentiation in the bone marrow, neutrophils synthesize MMP-8 and store it in a latent 75 to 85-kD form in specific intracellular granules. This highly glycosylated isoform of MMP-8 is released in latent form from activated neutrophils upon degranulation (Hasty et al. 1986). A significant part of the released enzyme is subsequently associated with the cell surface of neutrophils, where it is detectable in both latent and active form (Owen et al. 2004). The mesenchymal MMP-8 isoform is a lessglycosylated 50 to 55-kD form of MMP-8, which is expressed by several types of cells such as stimulated chondrocytes, rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts, oral carcinoma cells, and chorionic cells of human fetal membranes (Cole et al. 1996, Hanemaaijer et al. 1997, Moilanen et al. 2003, Arechavaleta-Velasco et al. 2004).

Activation of MMP-8 by proteinases such as trypsin-2, chymotrypsin, cathepsin G, MMP-3, and MMP-14 converts the latent forms of neutrophil-derived MMP-8 (Knäuper *et al.* 1990, Knäuper *et al.* 1993, Holopainen *et al.* 2003, Moilanen *et al.* 2003) and mesenchymal cell-derived MMP-8 (Moilanen *et al.* 2003) into active forms of 65 to 75-kD and 45 kD, respectively. MMP-8 can also be activated *in vitro* by myeloperoxidase-derived reactive oxygen species, and this activation mechanism does not necessarily involve change in molecular mass (Saari *et al.* 1990).

In addition to its collagenolytic properties, MMP-8 is capable of degrading  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin and of processing chemokines, and it is also involved in the generation of apoptotic signals for inflammatory cells, suggesting that MMP-8 may play a significant role in the regulation of inflammation (Balbin *et al.* 2003, Owen *et al.* 2004, Gueders *et al.* 2005).

#### 2.1.2. Gelatinases

MMP-2(gelatinaseA) and MMP-9(gelatinase B) were originally described as gelatinbinding proteins (Vartio and Vaheri 1981, Vartio et al. 1982). They degrade several ECM proteins such as denatured collagens or gelatins, type IV and type V collagens, elastin, fibronectin, and vitronectin, as well as a number of non-matrix proteins including proteinase inhibitors, certain cytokines and chemokines, and latent growth factors and growth factor binding proteins (Björklund and Koivunen 2005, Chakrabarti and Patel 2005). Both MMP-2 and MMP-9 proteolytically process the inactive proforms of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) and IL-1 $\beta$  into their corresponding active forms (Schonbeck et al. 1998, Yu and Stamenkovic 2000). MMP-9 also processes IL-8 into a truncated variant with increased activity, thus causing more effective neutrophil chemotaxis and activation (Opdenakker et al. 2001). In addition, MMP-9 degrades  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin and in this way protects neutrophil elastase activity (Liu et al. 2000).

In general, MMP-2 is produced constitutively and by a variety of cell types including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, macrophages, and various malignant cells (Chakrabarti and Patel 2005). It is secreted in a latent 72-kD form, and its main activation occurs on the cell surface and is mediated by membranetype MMPs (Strongin et al. 1995, Visse and Nagase 2003). MMP-14 (membrane-type 1 MMP) activation of MMP-2 occurs by the formation of a molecular complex containing MMP-2, MMP-14, and TIMP-2 which concentrates the components on the cell surface. An adjacent free and active MMP-14 subsequently cleaves proMMP-2 to the 64-kD intermediate form. This intermediate form is then processed to the fully active 62kD form due to autoproteolytic cleavage at a second site (Strongin et al. 1995, Murphy et al. 1999).

In contrast to MMP-2, the expression of MMP-9 is highly inducible by growth factors and proinflammatory cytokines in many cell types including alveolar macrophages, alveolar and bronchial epithelial cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and malignant cells (Atkinson and Senior 2003, Björklund and Koivunen 2005). Neutrophils synthesize MMP-9 during maturation in the bone marrow, and the MMP-9 is stored in latent form in intracellular tertiary granules before its release into the extracellular space after neutrophil activation. MMP-9 is released from cells as 92-kD proMMP-9, but also to a significant degree in complexed forms, including complexes with TIMP-1, with itself (200-kD homodimer), and with neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (120-kD complex) (Westerlund et al. 1996, Opdenakker et al. 2001). Part of the secreted MMP-9 is consequently bound to the cell surface, where it is significantly resistant to inhibition by TIMP-1 (Owen et al. 2003, Björklund and Koivunen 2005). MMP-9 can be proteolytically activated to a 75 to 82-kD active form by trypsin-2, neutrophil elastase, plasmin, and uPA (Ferry *et al.* 1997, Mazzieri *et al.* 1997, Sorsa *et al.* 1997, Liu *et al.* 2005). In addition, reactive oxygen species can activate MMP-9 (Westerlund *et al.* 1996). Moreover, the mere binding of proMMP-9 to gelatin or type IV collagen induces its enzymatic activity, without removal of the prodomain (Bannikov *et al.* 2002).

#### 2.2. Regulation of MMPs

In healthy resting adult tissues many MMPs are expressed at low levels or not expressed at all. However, several factors such as proinflammatory cytokines, growth factors, hormones, and cell–cell and cell–matrix interactions can rapidly stimulate the gene expression of most MMPs (Birkedal-Hansen *et al.* 1993, Nagase and Woessner 1999).

Because neutrophil-derived MMP-8 and MMP-9 are not synthesized de novo by mature neutrophils, they are not regulated transcriptionally. When activated by proinflammatory mediators, degranulating neutrophils release the MMP-8 and MMP-9 stored in their intracellular granules. The secreted enzymes are rapidly bound to neutrophil plasma membrane, where they are expressed in both pro and active forms, and are often colocalized on the leading edge of a polarized neutrophil (Owen et al. 2003, 2004). The membrane-bound MMP-8 and MMP-9 have a spectrum of catalytic activity and a catalytic efficacy similar to those of the soluble forms of these enzymes; in contrast to the soluble forms, the membranebound enzymes are substantially resistant to inhibition by TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 (Owen et al. 2003, Owen et al. 2004). Cell-surface localization of MMP may be an important mechanism to maintain a high local enzyme concentration, and to target their catalytic activity to specific substrates in the pericellular environment (Parks and Shapiro 2001, Stamenkovic 2003, Parks *et al.* 2004).

Most of the MMPs are secreted as proforms, which are maintained in a catalytically inactive state by interaction between the cysteine residue of propeptide domain and the zinc ion of the active site. Disruption of this interaction is required for activation of proMMPs, and this can occur by various nonproteolytic agents such as organomercurials and reactive oxygen species, or by cleavage of the propeptide by tissue and plasma proteinases such as trypsin, plasmin, neutrophil elastase, and mast cell tryptase, as well as by MMPs (Birkedal-Hansen et al. 1993, Ferry et al. 1997, Mazzieri et al. 1997, Sorsa et al. 1997, Holopainen et al. 2003, Moilanen et al. 2003, Liu et al. 2005). The main activation of proMMP-2 takes place on the cell surface and is mediated through a trimolecular complex of MMP-2/TIMP-2/ MMP-14 (Strongin et al. 1995). In addition, certain MMPs such as MT-MMPs, MMP-11, MMP-23, and MMP-28 possess a furin cleavage site, and are likely to be activated intracellularly by furin-like pro-protein convertases and are secreted or bond to the cell surface as active enzymes (Nagase et al. 2006).

#### 2.2.1. Inhibition of MMPs

The activity of MMPs is inhibited by both endogenous and synthetic MMP inhibitors, being physiologically inhibited by specific tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) as well as by the broad-spectrum proteinase inhibitor  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin, the major inhibitor of MMPs in plasma (Baker *et al.* 2002).

*TIMPs.* TIMPs are relatively small 20 to 30-kD proteins that bind MMPs in a 1:1 stoichiometric ratio and in a reversible manner. To date, four TIMPs have been characterized in humans (TIMP-1, -2, -3,

and -4). The TIMPs inhibit active forms of all MMPs without major selectivity, although TIMP-1 is a poor inhibitor of certain MT-MMPs and MMP-19 (Lambert et al. 2004). In addition, the TIMPs are also able to make complexes with proMMPs: TIMP-1 preferentially binds to proMMP-9, and TIMP-2 with proMMP-2, which is important in the cell-surface activation of proMMP-2. TIMP-3 makes complexes with both proMMP-2 and proMMP-9, whereas TIMP-4 has the ability to bind proMMP-2 (Lambert et al. 2004). Expression of TIMP-1 and TIMP-3 can be induced by a variety of cytokines and growth factors, whereas TIMP-2 is constitutively expressed in many cell types (Baker et al. 2002). In the healthy adult mouse, TIMP-2 is expressed at high levels in all tissues (Nuttall et al. 2004). It directly suppresses endothelial cell growth and angiogenesis, and this function is independent of its ability to inhibit MMP activity (Stetler-Stevenson and Seo 2005). Other TIMPs also show MMPindependent functions such as regulation of cell growth and apoptosis (Lambert et al. 2004).

Synthetic inhibitors of MMPs. Numerous synthetic MMP inhibitors have been developed, most of which target the catalytic site of the MMPs and act by chelating the active site zinc ion (Birkedal-Hansen et al. 1993). The MMP inhibitors can be divided into 3 major classes: peptidomimetic inhibitors, non-peptidomimetics, tetracycline and analogues. Some of them have been evaluated in clinical trials, mainly as a treatment option for cancer or rheumatoid arthritis, but the results have been disappointing (Coussens et al. 2002, Ala-aho and Kähäri 2005). The only MMP inhibitor in clinical use is lowdose doxycycline as adjunctive medication in human periodontal disease (Golub et al. 1998). Chemically modified tetracyclines (CMTs) are tetracycline analogues devoid of antimicrobial activity, which inhibit MMPs

by chelating the active site zinc ion, rendering the MMPs more susceptible to degradation, as well as by down-regulating MMP mRNA expression (Golub *et al.* 1998). Tetracyclines also inhibit neutrophil elastase and are capable of scavenging reactive oxygen species and inhibiting cytokine expression (Nieman and Zerler 2001). Studies in animal models of septic shock and ARDS have suggested that prophylactic treatment with CMT-3 may reduce morbidity in patients at risk for sepsis or ARDS (Carney *et al.* 1999, Nieman and Zerler 2001, Steinberg *et al.* 2005).

#### 3. MATRIX SERINE PROTEINASES AND THEIR INHIBITORS

Serine proteinases comprise a large family proteolytic enzymes characterized by a serine residue at their active site. These enzymes regulate various biological functions, including coagulation, fibrinolysis, immune/ inflammatory responses, digestion of dietary proteins, and degradation of ECM and BM.

Inflammatory cell-derived serine Inflammatory cells such as proteinases. neutrophils, monocytes, and mast cells are significant stores of serine proteinases. Mast cell granules contain chymase and tryptase, both of which are released from mast cells during inflammation and allergic reactions (Sommerhoff 2001). Neutrophil elastase, cathepsin G, and proteinase 3 are produced during neutrophil development and stored in the primary granules of mature neutrophils. When the neutrophils are activated, these proteinases are released by degranulation into the extracellular space (Weiss 1989), although some of the elastase and cathepsin G remain bound to the neutrophil plasma membrane, where the enzymes are active and resistant to inhibition by antiproteinases (Owen et al. 1995). Neutrophil serine proteinases have a broad substrate specificity, and when released into the extracellular space in excessive amounts during inflammation they have the potential to cause tissue injury (Hiemstra et al. 1998, Lee and Downey 2001, Shapiro 2002). Neutrophil elastase and cathepsin G can cause ECM destruction either directly or indirectly by activating proMMPs such as MMP-9 (Watanabe *et al.* 1993, Ferry *et al.* 1997), as well as enhancing MMP activity by degrading and inactivating TIMPs (Itoh and Nagase 1995). Moreover, neutrophil elastase may mediate inflammation by inducing the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (Nakamura *et al.* 1992).

The activity of neutrophil serine proteinases is controlled by serine proteinase inhibitors known as serpins, such as  $\alpha_1$ proteinase inhibitor (also known as  $\alpha_1$ antitrypsin),  $\alpha_1$ -antichymotrypsin, secretory leukocyte proteinase inhibitor (SLPI), and elafin (Wewers et al. 1988, Weiss 1989, Hiemstra 2002, Sallenave 2002), as well as by  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin which reacts with a large variety of proteinases (Wewers et al. 1988). SLPI and elafin are produced locally at mucosal sites, while the liver is the main source of  $\alpha_1$ -proteinase inhibitor,  $\alpha_1$ -antichymotrypsin, and  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin (Sallenave 2002). Several studies have indicated that elafin, SLPI, and  $\alpha_1$ -proteinase inhibitor may affect the inflammatory response also by mechanisms distinct from those associated with the antiproteolytic activity against leukocyte-derived serine proteinases (Churg et al. 2001, Hiemstra 2002, Sallenave 2002).

Fibrinolytic serine proteinases. The serine proteinases of the fibrinolytic system consist of plasminogen/plasmin and specific plasminogen activators (PA) (Vassalli et al. 1991). Inhibition of these fibrinolytic serine proteinases may occur either at the level of the PA, by specific plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAI-1 and PAI-2), or at the level of plasmin, mainly by  $\alpha_{a}$ -antiplasmin (Lijnen 2001). In the vasculature, tissue-type PA (tPA) bound to fibrin generates plasmin for thrombolysis. Cell surface-associated plasmin, generated by the activity of receptorbound urokinase type PA (uPA) on cell bound plasminogen, is believed to be involved in the degradation of the ECM. It activates several latent MMPs, notably MMP-3 and MMP-9 (Mazzieri et al. 1997, Murphy et al. 1999, Liu et al. 2005), and is also capable of directly degrading ECM components such as fibronectin, vitronectin, or laminin (Danø et al. 1985).

#### 3.1. Trypsinogens and their inhibitors

Pancreatic trypsinogen is a well-characterized digestive serine proteinase. Several trypsinogen isoforms have been identified in humans (Scheele et al. 1981, Wiegand et al. 1993) and in several animal species including rat (Brodrick et al. 1980, Lütcke et al. 1989). The human pancreas produces three trypsinogen isoenzymes which differ in isoelectric point, namely trypsinogen-1 (cationic trypsinogen), trypsinogen-2 (anionic trypsinogen), and a minor isoform, trypsinogen-3 (mesotrypsinogen) (Scheele et al. 1981, Rinderknecht et al. 1984). In addition, trypsinogen-4, a splicing variant of trypsinogen-3, has been identified in the human brain (Wiegand et al. 1993).

*Extrapancreatic trypsinogen.* Trypsinogen-1 and -2 were detected and characterized for the first time outside the gastrointestinal tract in the cyst fluid of human ovarian tumors (Stenman et al. 1988). These tumorassociated trypsinogens are identical to the pancreatic trypsinogen-1 and -2 in amino sequences. in immunoreactivity. acid and in molecular size (25 kD and 28 kD, respectively), but display minor differences in substrate specificity and susceptibility to inhibition by protease inhibitors (Koivunen et al. 1989). Trypsinogen expression has more recently been observed in several tumors (Kawano et al. 1997, Fujimura et al. 1998) as well as in cancer cell lines (Koivunen et al. 1991). Trypsinogen is now known to be widely expressed in normal human extrapancreatic tissues. At the mRNA and protein level, trypsinogen occurs in vascular endothelial cells (Koshikawa et al. 1997) and in the epithelial cells of the skin, esophagus, stomach, small intestine, lung, kidney, liver, and extrahepatic bile duct, as well as in leukocytes in the spleen and in brain nerve cells (Koshikawa et al. 1998). Despite its wide distribution in various tissues, however, little is known about the regulation of trypsinogen expression.

#### 3.1.1. Regulation of trypsin activity

Activation. During the digestive process, trypsinogens are secreted from the pancreas into the lumen of the duodenum, where they are activated by enterokinase (enteropeptidase). In humans, enterokinase is not known to occur in tissues other than the intestine. In the rat, expression of enterokinase has also been observed in the stomach, colon, and brain (Yahagi et al. 1996). In vitro, trypsinogen can be activated by lysosomal hydrolases (Figarella et al. 1988), and incubation of stimulated leukocytes with trypsinogen has been shown to convert trypsinogen to trypsin (Hartwig et al. 1999). At present it is, however, unclear how extrapancreatic trypsinogens are activated in vivo.

Inhibition. Activity of trypsin is controlled by several inhibitors such as  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin,  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin (Ohlsson 1988), and pancreatic secretory trypsin inhibitor (PSTI), also called tumor-associated trypsin inhibitor (TATI) (Huhtala et al. 1982). PSTI/TATI, a highly specific inhibitor of trypsin with a molecular weight of 6 kD, was originally found in the pancreas, but has subsequently been identified in a variety of human tissues, including the gastrointestinal tract and lung (Shibata et al. 1987). Although the main role of PSTI/TATI is thought to be protection of the tissue from the destructive activity of trypsin, PSTI/TATI may also play a role in maintaining mucosal integrity and in stimulating epithelial repair (Marchbank et al. 1998).

#### 3.1.2. Functions of trypsin

Human trypsin is a potent matrix-degrading proteinase, which directly degrades various components of the ECM and BM, including fibronectin and collagen types I, II, and IV (Koivunen *et al.* 1991, Koshikawa *et al.* 1992, Moilanen *et al.* 2003, Stenman *et al.* 2005). Moreover, trypsin-2 efficiently activates latent proforms of MMP-1, -3, -8, -9, and -13 *in vitro* at very low concentrations (Sorsa *et al.* 1997, Moilanen *et al.* 2003), and partially activates MMP-2 (Sorsa *et al.* 1997). Human trypsin-1 and -2 are also activators of the proform of u-PA (Koivunen *et al.* 1989).

The wide distribution of trypsin expression in the intact epithelium of several human tissues suggests that it functions in common homeostatic processes. Trypsin is a potent activator of proteinase-ativated receptor 2 (PAR<sub>2</sub>), which is extensively expressed in the epithelial cells and is believed to be involved in various physiological and pathophysiological functions (Dery *et al.* 1998, Steinhoff *et al.* 2005). In the intestine, human  $\alpha$ -defensin 5 (HD5) is a key contributor to microbial defense (Ouellette and Selsted 1996). It is stored as a propeptide in healthy ileal mucosa; to be fully functional, it must be processed proteolytically after its secretion (Cunliffe *et al.* 2001). Recently, it was found in that Paneth cells of the human terminal ileum produce trypsinogen-2 and -3 and the pro-HD5, and that trypsin is the cleaving enzyme for HD5 *in vivo* (Ghosh *et al.* 2002). Therefore, as a prodefensin convertase in human Paneth cells, trypsin is believed to be involved in the innate immunity of the human small intestine.

# 3.2. Serine proteinase signaling by activation of proteinase-activated receptors (PAR)

The serine proteinases act, at least in part, via proteinase-activated receptors, a family of G-protein-coupled seven-transmembrane receptors that are expressed in a variety of tissues, including lung, gastrointestinal tract, cardiovascular system, skin, and nervous system (Dery et al. 1998, Steinhoff et al. 2005). Four members of the PAR family have been cloned and characterized in humans and murines, thus far (Vu et al. 1991, Nystedt et al. 1994, 1995, Ishihara et al. 1997, Xu et al. 1998). The general mechanism by which proteinases activate PARs is the same: They cleave at specific sites within the extracellular amino terminus of the receptor (Dery et al. 1998). The newly exposed amino terminus itself acts as a tethered ligand which binds to conserved regions in the second extracellular loop of the cleaved receptor, resulting in receptor activation and initiation of multiple signaling cascades with diverse consequences such as hemostasis, inflammation, pain transmission, and repair (Macfarlane et



**Figure 3.** Mechanism of activation of proteinase-activated receptors (PARs). The "tethered ligand" sequence (hatched box) which is revealed following enzyme-specific cleavage, binds to a site on the second extracellular loop (grey box), to initiate G-protein-mediated cell signalling. Synthetic peptide mimetics of the PARs tethered ligand sequences are able to activate PARs by binding to the receptor (grey box) without proteolytic cleavage of the aminoterminus. Modified from Cocks and Moffatt (2000).

*al.* 2001, Hollenberg and Compton 2002, Ossovskaya and Bunnett 2004, Steinhoff *et al.* 2005) (Figure 3).

Of the serine proteinases, thrombin activates PAR<sub>1</sub>, PAR<sub>3</sub>, and PAR<sub>4</sub>-but not PAR, (Vu et al. 1991, Ishihara et al. 1997, Xu et al. 1998), which is cleaved by trypsin (Nystedt et al. 1994). Although PAR, PAR, and PAR, are considered predominantly to be thrombin receptors, they can also be activated by trypsin (Hollenberg and Compton 2002), and  $PAR_4$  by cathepsin G (Sambrano *et al.*) 2000). All PARs except PAR, can also be activated by short synthetic peptides (PARactivating peptides) that mimic the tethered ligand region of the receptor (Macfarlane et al. 2001). Activation of PARs by proteinases irreversible, and once cleaved, the is receptors are endocytosed and trafficked to lysosomes for degradation (Ossovskaya and Bunnett 2004). In addition to the activating cleavage, cell-surface proteolysis may disable PARs by removing or destroying the tethered ligand, and thus prevent receptor activation. Neutrophil elastase and cathepsin G can disarm PAR<sub>1</sub> and PAR<sub>2</sub>, and in this way dampen signaling by activating proteinases (Dulon *et al.* 2003, Ossovskaya and Bunnett 2004).

#### 3.2.1. PAR,

Pancreatic trypsin, and extrapancreatic trypsin-2, as well as human recombinant trypsin-1 and -2 very potently activate  $PAR_2$  (Nystedt *et al.* 1994, Alm *et al.* 2000, Grishina *et al.* 2005). PAR<sub>2</sub> is also activated by mast cell tryptase, although considerably less potently than by trypsin (Corvera *et al.* 1997, Alm *et al.* 2000). The coagulation factors FVIIa and FXa also function as activators when anchored by tissue factor to the cell surface (Camerer *et al.* 2000).

Like trypsin, PAR<sub>2</sub> is highly expressed in the lung, skin, kidney, gastrointestinal tract, and brain, where it is found in epithelial and endothelial cells, myocytes, fibroblasts, inflammatory cells, and neurons (D'Andrea *et al.* 1998). It is involved in both cytoprotective and proinflammatory responses (Cocks *et al.* 1999, Steinhoff *et al.* 2005). It plays a protective role in the gastric mucosa (Kawabata 2003), while in the intestine and lung it appears to play both pro- and anti-inflammatory roles (Cocks *et al.* 1999, Kawabata 2003).

The role of PAR<sub>2</sub> in inflammation has been suggested by its up-regulation by inflammatory mediators such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL- $\alpha$  (Nystedt *et al.* 1996). Its activation leads to increased vascular permeability and leukocyte margination and infiltration (Vergnolle *et al.* 1999, Vergnolle 1999), as well as to the production of proinflammatory cytokines and MMP-9 (Vliagoftis *et al.* 2000, Asokananthan *et al.* 2002). The proinflammatory effects of PAR<sub>2</sub> activation are at least in part mediated by a neurogenic mechanism (Steinhoff *et al.* 2000). Recent studies using PAR<sub>2</sub> knockout mice suggest a critical role for this receptor in inflammation of the lung, joints, and intestine (Ferrell *et al.* 2003, Hansen *et al.* 2005, Kelso EB *et al.* 2006, Su *et al.* 2005).

#### 4. MATRIX PROTEINASES IN THE LUNG

Controlled remodeling and degradation of ECM by matrix proteinases, especially MMPs, are essential for lung development and growth as well as for its function as the organ of ventilation (Chua *et al.* 2005, Ryu *et al.* 2005). In addition to matrix degradation and turnover, these enzymes function in the lung as regulators of inflammation, innate immunity, apoptosis, and repair (Lee and Downey 2001, Li *et al.* 2002, Shapiro 2002, McMillan *et al.* 2004, Parks *et al.* 2004).

In the healthy adult lung, proteinase inhibitors are present in higher concentrations than are matrix-degrading proteinases, and thus prevent the deleterious effects on tissue. However, during lung inflammation, the release of large amounts of proteolytic enzymes by inflammatory as well as by activated lung resident cells may result in dysregulated extracellular proteolysis leading to development of tissue damage

(Lee and Downey 2001, Chua et al. 2005). Moreover, MMPs and serine proteinases are involved in the chemotaxis of various inflammatory cells and in growth factor bioavailability and may thus have a major impact on the overall level of inflammation and play a role in fibroproliferative lung repair following injury (Parks et al. 2004, Chua et al. 2005). Increased pulmonary levels of matrix-degrading proteinases and an imbalance between these enzymes and their inhibitors are associated with lung injury in preterm infants as well as with several acute and chronic inflammatory lung diseases in adults (Merritt et al. 1983, Ricou et al. 1996, Lee and Downey 2001, Prikk et al. 2002, Chakrabarti and Patel 2005).

## 4.1. MMPs and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) in the lung

## 4.1.1. MMPs and TIMPs in lung development

In contrast to the adult human lung, which exhibits a high antiproteinase to proteinase ratio, the fetal human lung is characterized by a dominant proteolytic profile enabling rapid remodeling of the ECM during lung development (Ryu et al. 2005). During fetal and early postnatal lung development, several MMPs and TIMPs are expressed (Fukuda et al. 2000, Masumoto et al. 2005, Ryu et al. 2005). In the developing rabbit lung, MMP-1, -2, -9, and -14 and TIMP-2 are immunohistochemically localized in epithelial cells, and MMP-2 and TIMP-2 also in mesenchymal cells (Fukuda et al. 2000). In the mouse fetal lung, high levels of RNA have been demonstrated for MMP-2 and -14, as well as for TIMP-2, and -3 (Nuttall et al. 2004). By in situ hybridization, MMP-14 and TIMP-2 are localized in epithelial and mesenchymal cells, but MMP-2 only in mesenchymal cells (Kheradmand et al. 2002). During human fetal lung development, expression of MMP-1 and -9, as well as TIMP-1, -2, and -3 has been detected immunohistochemically in lung epithelial cells and vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells, but expression of MMP-2 only in vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells (Masumoto et al. 2005). Expression of MMP-1, -2, -8, and -9 has recently been studied during lung development of the fetal baboon, showing an increase in protein levels of MMP-1 and -9 with advancing gestation, and an increase in MMP-8 level during early gestation and then a decrease during the late phase of lung development, whereas it showed MMP-2 levels to remain high throughout gestation (Tambunting et al. 2005).

Several studies have demonstrated an increase in type IV collagenolytic activity during late fetal lung development as well as during the early phase of postnatal lung growth (Arden and Adamson 1992, Arden et al. 1993, Fukuda et al. 2000). This has been attributed mainly to increased levels of active MMP-2 (Arden et al. 1993, Fukuda et al. 2000), although MMP-9 may also be involved (Fukuda et al. 2000, Hosford et al. 2004). The significance of MMP-9 appears to be limited, however, since mice deficient in MMP-9 have normal branching morphogenesis and develop normal adult lungs (Atkinson and Senior 2003). In contrast, MMP-2 null mice and mice deficient in its activator MMP-14 exhibit abnormal branching morphogenesis and alveolarization (Kheradmand et al. 2002, Atkinson et al. 2005). Among the TIMPs, TIMP-3 may play an important role in regulating MMP activity during lung development, as demonstrated by impaired branching morphogenesis and progressive air space enlargement in TIMP-3 null mice, a phenomenon believed to be at least in part caused by excessive fibronectin fragmentation (Gill et al. 2003).

## 4.1.2. *MMPs and TIMPs in lung injury in the preterm infant*

After the beginning of this thesis project, several investigators have reported data describing the presence of MMPs and TIMPs in tracheal aspirates from ventilated preterm infants during the early postnatal period (Danan *et al.* 2002, Ekekezie *et al.* 2004) and in their BALF samples (Schock *et al.* 2001, Sweet *et al.* 2001, Curley *et al.* 2003, 2004, Sweet *et al.* 2004). Increased levels of MMP-8 and -9 were detected in preterm infants from pregnancies complicated by chorioamnionitis (Curley *et al.* 2003, Curley *et al.* 2004). A significant positive correlation has been observed between protein carbonyl concentrations and MMP-9 and TIMP-1

concentrations in BALF (Schock et al. 2001) suggesting that MMP-9 and TIMP-1 can be up-regulated by oxidative stress in preterm infants early postnatally. During the first few days of life, low MMP-2 (Danan et al. 2002, Ekekezie et al. 2004), high MMP-8 (Sweet et al. 2001), low TIMP-1 and -2 (Ekekezie et al. 2004), and a high MMP-9/TIMP-1 ratio (Ekekezie et al. 2004) have been associated with later development of BPD. In addition, Ekekezie et al. (2004) showed that the ratio of MMP-9 to TIMP-1 remains significantly higher during the first two postnatal weeks in preterm infants who subsequently develop BPD than in those who survive without it, but with no difference in levels of MMP-9 between groups.

In autopsy lung specimens from preterm infants with RDS or in different phases of BPD, immunohistochemical expression of MMP-1, TIMP-1, and -2 appears in alveolar type-II epithelial cells as well as in alveolar macrophages. In addition, in the chronic phase of BPD, immunoreactivity for MMP-1, TIMP-1, and -2 also appears in fibroblasts of fibrotic foci (Dik *et al.* 2001).

### *4.1.3. MMPs and TIMPs in animal models of BPD*

Prolonged exposure of newborn mice and rats to hyperoxia results in chronic lung injury characterized by decreased alveolarization, progressive inflammation, edema, and increased septal and interstitial thickness (Warner *et al.* 1998, Wagenaar *et al.* 2004). In lungs of neonatal rats exposed to >95% of hyperoxia from postnatal day 4 to 14, decreased expression of both MMP-9 mRNA and protein occurred, and, conversely, an increase in TIMP-1 mRNA and protein when compared with animals raised in room air (Hosford *et al.* 2004). In neonatal rats exposed to hyperoxia from birth, several studies have, during the first few postnatal days, shown increased expression and activity of MMP-2 (Devaskar *et al.* 1994, Buckley and Warburton 2002, Wagenaar *et al.* 2004) and MMP-9 (Buckley and Warburton 2002), as well as increased expression of MMP-12 when compared with control rats (Wagenaar *et al.* 2004). During hyperoxia, no changes in the expression of TIMP-2 have been observed either at protein (Buckley and Warburton 2002) or mRNA level (Hosford *et al.* 2004).

Recently, a study of MMPs and TIMPs in an extremely premature-baboon model of BPD demonstrated significantly higher protein levels of MMP-9 and a higher ratio of MMP-9 to TIMP-1 in lungs of these baboons when compared with gestational controls (Tambunting *et al.* 2005). In baboons with BPD, pulmonary levels of MMP-8 were significantly lower, with no differences detectable in levels of MMP-2 (Tambunting *et al.* 2005).

## 4.1.4. MMPs and TIMPs in acute lung injury in adults

Elevated levels of MMP-2 and especially of MMP-9 occur in BALF from patients with ARDS (Ricou *et al.* 1996, Torii *et al.* 1997, Pugin *et al.* 1999). Although TIMP-1 in BALF is increased in ARDS (Ricou *et al.* 1996, Torii *et al.* 1997), the ratio of MMP-9 to TIMP-1 in BALF remains elevated in late phases of prolonged ARDS (Ricou *et al.* 1996). Thus, an imbalance between MMP-9 and TIMP-1 may play a role in the pathogenesis of ARDS.

Increased activities for MMP-2 and MMP-9 in BALF and lung exist in various animal models of hyperoxic lung injury (Pardo *et al.* 1996, Pardo *et al.* 1998, Melendez *et al.* 2000, Gushima *et al.* 2001). In addition, collagenolytic activity in BALF is increased in rats exposed to 100% oxygen for 60 hours (Pardo *et al.* 1996). During hyperoxic lung injury, MMP-2 and MMP-9 mRNA and

protein are mainly localized in alveolar epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages (Pardo *et al.* 1996, Gushima *et al.* 2001). Exposure to hyperoxia elevates expression of TIMP-1, but not TIMP-2 mRNA (Pardo *et al.* 1998, Melendez *et al.* 2000). Similarly to MMP-2 and MMP-9, TIMP-1 and -2 are mainly localized in alveolar macrophages and alveolar epithelial cells during hyperoxia (Pardo *et al.* 1998, Melendez *et al.* 2000).

A novel anti-inflammatory role for neutrophil-derived MMP-8 has recently been observed in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)mediated acute lung injury in mice (Owen et al. 2004). A greater accumulation of neutrophils in the alveolar space occurred 24 hours after intratracheally administrated LPS in MMP-8 -/- mice than in wild-type controls. The investigators later show that the BALF from MMP-8 -/- mice has more neutrophil chemotactic activity as well as more macrophage inflammatory protein-1a (MIP-1 $\alpha$ ) than does BALF from wild-type mice after LPS exposure (Owen et al. 2005). In vitro, membrane-bound MMP-8 totally degraded MIP-1a, reducing its neutrophil chemotactic activity, whereas soluble MMP-8 cleaved MIP-1 $\alpha$  only partially (Owen *et al.* 2005).

MMP-7 is constitutively expressed in intact human airway epithelium, and its expression is induced in injured epithelium, where it plays an important role in reepithelisation by facilitating epithelialcell migration (Dunsmore *et al.* 1998). In addition, epithelial-derived MMP-7 regulates chemokine mobilization and transepithelial efflux of neutrophils in bleomycin-injured murine lungs by causing shedding of the ectodomain of syndecan-1 (Li *et al.* 2002).

Deficiency in TIMP-1, as recently shown, aggravates acute bleomycin-induced lung injury as determined by enhanced pulmonary neutrophilia, hemorrhage, and vascular permeability (Kim *et al.* 2005). Levels of MMP-9 were higher in BALF from TIMP-1 null mice, with no difference in BALF chemotactic activity between genotypes. TIMP-1 may thus play an important role during acute lung injury in preserving the alveolar-capillary barrier from proteolytic damage (Kim *et al.* 2005).

In addition to TIMP-1, TIMP-2 plays an important role in regulating the intensity of lung inflammatory injury (Mulligan *et al.* 1993, Gibbs *et al.* 1999, Gipson *et al.* 1999). In rat models of both macrophagedependent and neutrophil-dependent acute lung injury, intratracheally administered human recombinant TIMP-2 (Mulligan *et al.* 1993, Gibbs *et al.* 1999) inhibits pulmonary damage. Affecting the generation of the powerful chemoattractant complement anaphylatoxin C5a in the lung may be one mechanism by which TIMP-2 regulates lung inflammation (Gipson *et al.* 1999).

## 4.1.5. MMPs and TIMPs in chronic inflammatory airway diseases in adults

Sustained, elevated expression of MMP-2 or MMP-9, or both and altered expression of TIMPs exists in chronic pulmonary diseases such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (Chakrabarti and Patel 2005). Smokers with emphysema show higher levels of MMP-8 and MMP-9 in BALF than do smokers without emphysema (Betsuyaku et al. 1999). BALF from adult patients with asthma or bronchiectasis contains elevated levels and a higher degree of activation of MMP-8 than does BALF from healthy controls, and in these diseases, MMP-8 localized at both the protein and mRNA level in bronchial epithelial cells, macrophages, and neutrophils (Prikk et al. 2001a, Prikk et al. 2002). In addition, the level and activation degree of MMP-8 in BALF were higher in patients with severe asthma than in those with wellcontrolled asthma, and an inverse correlation existed with airflow obstruction, indicating a direct connection between MMP-8 activity and deterioration in lung function (Prikk *et al.* 2002).

The role of MMP-8 in asthma-related acute airway inflammation has recently been studied in an ovalbumin-sensitized mouse model of asthma using MMP-8 -/and WT mice (Gueders et al. 2005). In this model, MMP-8 deficiency was, following allergen exposure, associated with increased numbers of neutrophils in BALF, and enhanced migration of neutrophils as well as eosinophils in the airway walls. Assessment of cell apoptosis demonstrated significantly reduced neutrophil apoptosis in MMP-8 -/- mice compared to WT mice, suggesting that the anti-inflammatory effect of MMP-8 is in part due to a role in the regulation of neutrophil apoptosis (Gueders et al. 2005).

Variable effects of MMP-9 on allergeninduced airway inflammation have been recently observed in MMP-9 knockout animals. Vermaelen *et al.* (2003) demonstrated reduced infiltration of inflammatory cells into the airways after allergic challenge in MMP-9 -/- mice. The study of McMillan *et al.* (2004), using an exposure protocol based on high allergen concentrations, showed in contrast, increased inflammatory cell infiltrate in both bronchial mucosa and BALF from MMP-9 null mice.

## 4.2. Serine proteinases and their inhibitors in the lung

## 4.2.1. Inflammatory cell-derived serine proteinases and their inhibitors

The major sources of serine proteinases in the lung are inflammatory cells such as neutrophils, mast cells, and macrophages (Lee and Downey 2001, Sommerhoff 2001). Neutrophil elastase has several detrimental effects on lung tissue: It is capable of degrading almost all components of ECM, it is directly cytotoxic to endothelial cells, and it has various proinflammatory effects (Lee and Downey 2001, Shapiro 2002).

Increased levels of neutrophil elastase together with reduced functional activity of its inhibitor  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin have been detected in the airway secretions from preterm infants with RDS and from those who subsequently develop BPD (Merritt et al. 1983, Speer et al. 1993). During inflammation,  $\alpha_1$ antitrypsin is inactivated both oxidatively by reactive oxygen species released from inflammatory cells (Carp and Janoff 1980) and proteolytically by several MMPs, including MMP-8 and -9 (Liu et al. 2000, Owen et al. 2004). In the developing lung, elastic fibers provide structural support for alveolar septal development (Roth-Kleiner and Post 2005). Thus, in preterm infants with BPD elastolytic damage may be a significant factor in the impaired lung development. In neonatal rats,  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin protects against the toxic effects of oxygen on pulmonary parenchymal and vascular development (Koppel et al. 1994). Furthermore, in a randomized, controlled trial, prophylactic administration of  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin intravenously into preterm infants with RDS has reduced the incidence of pulmonary hemorrhage and the use of inhaled steroids and bronchodilators, although the reduction in risk for BPD at 36 gestational weeks failed to reach statistical significance (Stiskal et al. 1998).

An imbalance between neutrophil elastase and its inhibitors in the lung has also been implicated in adult inflammatory lung diseases, such as emphysema, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and ARDS (Moraes *et al.* 2003).

Serine proteinase tryptase is a major mast cell-derived proteinase believed to be involved in airway inflammation and remodeling associated with fibroproliferative lung diseases such as asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Sommerhoff 2001, Cairns 2005). The increased numbers of mast cells appearing in autopsy lung samples from preterm infants with long-standing BPD suggests that, in the development of BPD, tryptase may also play a role (Lyle et al. 1995). Tryptase induces proliferation of pulmonary fibroblasts and airway smooth muscle cells, and induces secretion of proinflammatory mediators by bronchial epithelial cells (Sommerhoff 2001, Cairns 2005). It is also capable of digesting 72kD gelatinase into a 62-kD form, as well as degrading fibronectin, suggesting that it may play a role in the degradation of ECM (Lohi et al. 1992). Many of the cellular effects of tryptase may be mediated through PAR, cleavage and activation (Akers et al. 2000, Berger et al. 2001, Cairns 2005).

#### 4.2.2. Trypsin and trypsin-like proteinases

In the lung, in addition to inflammatory cells, resident cells are also an important source of serine proteinases. Extrapancreatic trypsin has been identified at both the mRNA and protein level in normal adult bronchial epithelium (Koshikawa et al. 1998, Cocks et al. 1999), and recently, trypsin was identified in rat lung (Towatari et al. 2002). Little is known, however, about the role of trypsin in the lung. Trypsin colocalizes with PAR, in the epithelium of human bronchioles, and has been suggested to be the physiologic activator of pulmonary epithelial PAR, (Cocks et al. 1999). By activating PAR, trypsin may play a cytoprotective and, on the other hand, also a harmful role (Cocks et al. 1999, Ossovskaya and Bunnett 2004). In addition, if dysregulated, trypsin may cause pulmonary tissue destruction through direct degradation of ECM and BM proteins (Koivunen et al. 1991, Koshikawa et al. 1992,

Moilanen *et al.* 2003, Stenman *et al.* 2005), as well as through activation of various proMMPs (Sorsa *et al.* 1997, Moilanen *et al.* 2003). In BALF from adult patients with chronic inflammatory airway diseases the levels of trypsin-2- $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin complex correlate with the activation level of MMP-9 and of type I collagenolytic activity (Prikk *et al.* 2001b).

A novel serine proteinase called human airway trypsin-like protease (HAT) has been characterized in adult human lung (Yamaoka et al. 1998) and immunolocalized in ciliated cells of the bronchial epithelium (Takahashi et al. 2001). HAT is synthesized as a membranebound precursor with a molecular size of 48 kD which is then proteolytically converted at the cell surface into a 27-kD mature form, and then released into the mucous membrane (Yamaoka et al. 1998). On the basis of its structure, the HAT precursor is believed to be a member of the type II transmembrane serine proteinase family (Hooper et al. 2001). HAT may play a physiological role within the airway epithelium, but it may also become involved in airway remodeling by stimulating fibroblast proliferation via activation of PAR, (Matsushima et al. 2006).

#### 4.2.3. PAR<sub>2</sub>

All PARs have been immunolocalized in human lung epithelial and smooth muscle cells (D'Andrea *et al.* 1998, Knight *et al.* 2001, Asokananthan *et al.* 2002). In the mammalian lung, immunoreactive PAR<sub>2</sub> is also expressed by fibroblasts, sensory neurons, bronchial glands, endothelial cells, and vascular smooth muscle cells (D'Andrea *et al.* 1998, Akers *et al.* 2000, Ricciardolo *et al.* 2000), as well as by migrated inflammatory cells such as macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells, and eosinophils (Steinhoff *et al.* 2005).

The endogenous proteinases responsible for activating PAR<sub>2</sub> in the lung await largely determination. Trypsin may act as a physiologic activator of epithelial  $PAR_2$ (Cocks *et al.* 1999). Other possible activators of  $PAR_2$  in the lung include mast cell tryptase (Cairns 2005), HAT (Matsushima *et al.* 2006), as well as certain nonmammalian proteinases such as dust mite allergens (Ossovskaya and Bunnett 2004).

In the lung, PAR, may regulate both cytoprotective and proinflammatory pathways (Cocks et al. 1999, Ossovskaya and Bunnett 2004). In support of this protective role are observations from in vitro studies performed on isolated airway preparations from the mouse and rat demonstrating that activation of PAR, causes an epitheliumdependent bronchorelaxation, and that this effect is mediated by release of prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> (Cocks et al. 1999). In addition, intranasal administration of synthetic PAR, activating peptide protects against bronchoconstrictor challenges in the rat (Cocks et al. 1999). Conversely, activation of PAR, induces contraction of guinea pig and human intrapulmonary bronchi and bronchioles, the main site of resistance to air flow (Ricciardolo et al. 2000, Schmidlin et al. 2001). Thus, the effect of PAR, activation on airway tone depends on the species and experimental model used.

Several studies have indicated that PAR<sub>2</sub> plays an important role in the pulmonary

inflammation, as it is markedly up-regulated in vitro by early pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\alpha$  (Nystedt *et al.* 1996). Activation of PAR, in human respiratory epithelial cell lines induces release of important inflammatory mediators including IL-6, IL-8, and prostaglandin E, (Asokananthan et al. 2002), as well as synthesis and release of MMP-9 (Vliagoftis et al. 2000). In addition, PAR, activation induces proliferation of human lung fibroblasts and airway smooth muscle cells (Akers et al. 2000, Berger et al. 2001). These in vitro findings suggest that PAR, may participate in airway remodeling and in the fibroproliferation associated with pulmonary inflammatory diseases. Accordingly, increased expression of PAR, appears in the bronchial epithelium of asthma patients (Knight et al. 2001). Involvement of PAR, in airway inflammation and hyperreactivity has further been supported by studies using mice which lack or overexpress human PAR, (Schmidlin et al. 2002, Su et al. 2005). Recently, Su et al. (2005) showed in wild-type mice that intratracheal instillation of the PAR, activating peptide, but not the PAR<sub>1</sub> or PAR<sub>4</sub> activating peptides, induces airway constriction, acute lung inflammation, and protein-rich pulmonary edema in wildtype mice, but in PAR2 -/- mice no responses to PAR, activating peptide were detectable.

### AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aims of the present study were to

- identify the presence, molecular forms, and degree of activation of MMP-2, MMP-8, and MMP-9, and their specific inhibitor TIMP-2 in the lungs of preterm infants by evaluating their levels in tracheal aspirate fluid (TAF) samples, and to examine the involvement of these MMPs and TIMP-2 in lung injury in the preterm infant.
- study the presence, molecular forms, and concentrations of trypsin and its specific inhibitor TATI in lungs of preterm infants, and to evaluate the role of trypsin in the development of BPD.
- study the protein expression and possible co-localization of trypsin-2 and PAR<sub>2</sub> in the human lung during the perinatal period and in acute and chronic lung injury in the preterm infant.
- evaluate the role of MMP-2, MMP-8, and MMP-9, and of trypsin in the development of acute lung injury by use of animal model of hyperoxic lung injury.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 1. SUBJECTS AND EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS

#### 1.1. Patients in tracheal aspirate fluid (TAF) studies (I, II)

With the approval of the Ethics Committee of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University Central Hospital, Helsinki, a total of 48 preterm infants with respiratory distress were enrolled between December 1993 and October 1997 for Studies I and II (Table 1). These preterm infants were treated according to the standard protocols in the neonatal intensive care unit of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University Central Hospital. All were intubated at birth because of failure to establish spontaneous ventilation, and during the study period all underwent mechanical ventilation. Those with major anomalies were excluded. BPD was defined as need for supplemental oxygen at the age of 36 gestational weeks, in association with chest radiographic findings typical for BPD (Shennan *et al.* 1988).

PARAMETER	STU	ΟY
	l 16 infants	II 32 infants
PRENATAL		
Proteinuric preeclampsia	3 (19)	11 (34)
Premature rupture of membranes ≥ 24 h	7 (44)	12 (38)
Chorioamnionitis <sup>1</sup>	5 (31)	9 (28)
Antenatal betamethasone	12 (75)	27 (84)
AT BIRTH		
Cesarean section	12 (75)	21 (66)
Gender (M/F)	8/8	21/11
Gestational age (wks)	27.0 ± 2.0	27.3 ± 2.0
Birth weight (g)	875 ± 246	926 ± 295
Apgar score at 1 min	6 ± 3	5 ± 2
Umbilical artery pH	7.29 ± 0.07	7.28 ± 0.12
Umbilical artery base excess	-2.1 ± 2.3	-3.1 ± 4.0
POSTNATAL		
aAPO <sub>2</sub> <sup>2</sup>	0.35 ± 0.24	0.27 ± 0.20
Surfactant therapy	9 (56)	22 (69)
Doses of surfactant	1 ± 1	2 ± 1
Indomethacin therapy	12 (75)	28 (88)
Dexamethasone therapy during study period <sup>3</sup>	0	15 (47)
Duration of mechanical ventilation (d)	19 ± 19	23 ± 18
BPD	6 (38)	18 (56)
Death	2 (13)	1 (3)

Table 1. Characteristics of preterm infants in TAF studies (Studies I and II)

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or as number with percentage in parentheses.

<sup>1</sup> Diagnosed on the basis of clinical signs with maternal leukocytosis (white blood cell counts >  $15 \times 10^{9}$  cells/L) or increased concentration of C-reactive protein CRP (> 50 mg/L), or both.

<sup>2</sup> Initial arterial to alveolar oxygen tension ratio.

<sup>3</sup> Study period was 5 days in Study I and 2 weeks in Study II. In Study II, dexamethasone was started at a mean (± SD) age of 13 ± 7 days (range: 3-33 days).

#### **1.2.** Autopsied subjects in immunohistochemistry studies (II, III).

Immunohistochemistry studies were done with the approval of the National Authority for Medicolegal Affairs. A total of 12 fetuses aborted between 1997 and 2000, and 34 infants who died between 1991 and 1998 at the University Central Hospital, Helsinki, were included in immunohistochemistry studies. Of the fetuses, 11 were aborted because of clinical suspicion of a major extrapulmonary malformation in fetal ultrasound examination. One fetus died at 29 gestational weeks as a result of placental ablation. All fetuses had macroscopically and microscopically normal lungs.

Of the 34 infants studied, 29 were born prematurely. Of these, 9 died as a result of acute RDS (age at death 0 to 3 days), 7 of prolonged RDS (age at death 8 to 16 days), and 8 of BPD, defined as in tracheal aspirate studies I and II (Shennan et al. 1988). As controls, 5 newborn infants (gestational ages 22 to 33 weeks) who died within 1 day after delivery for reasons not involving lung pathologic conditions were included in Study III. Of these, 3 received no mechanical ventilation or supplemental oxygen (gestational ages 22 to 22.7 weeks). Mechanical ventilation and supplemental oxygen were administered to 2 infants (gestational ages 26.1 and 33.0 weeks) for 2 and 20 hours, respectively. In addition, 5 term infants who had normal lung histology and died on postnatal days 1 to 3 of cardiac anomalies were included in Study II. None of the fetuses and infants presented with any lung anomalies or pneumonia at the time of death. Clinical information on the fetuses and infants in Studies II and III are given in Table 2.

Autopsies were performed within 3 days after death. The lung samples were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin, embedded in paraffin, and stored at room temperature. Four-micrometer sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin. After evaluation of the whole material, one representative tissue block from each case was selected for immunohistochemical studies.

#### 1.3. Animals (IV)

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board for Animal Studies of Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland. Female Wistar rats (age 8 weeks, weight 180 g) were purchased from Harlan Nederland (Harlan Nederland, Horst, The Netherlands). After the animals were housed for 1 week, exposure to hyperoxia (>95%  $O_2$ ) or normoxia was carried out at the Laboratory Animal Center of Biomedicum Helsinki, University of Helsinki.

	Fetuses <sup>1</sup>	Newborn Controls <sup>2</sup>	RDS patients	Prolonged RDS	BPD patients
Study II (N=27) <sup>3</sup>					
Number of patients (M/F)	8 (5/2) <sup>4</sup>	5 (2/3)	6 (1/5)	3 (2/1)	5 (4/1)
Gestational age (wks)	19.0 (14.0-29.0)	39.7 (38.3-41.0)	24.3 (23.0-27.7)	26.4 (24.6-29.9)	26.4 (25.1-29.0)
Birth weight (g)	240 (30-1240)	3660 (2900-4270)	520 (310-840)	670 (495-810)	800 (670-1070)
Antenatal betamethasone (+/-)			3/3	1/1 5	2/3
Surfactant treatment (+/-)			5/1	3/0	5/5
Age at death (d)		1 (0.5-3)	2.0 (0.5-3.0)	11 (8-16)	175 (75-285)
Study III (N=36)					
Vumber of patients (M/F)	10 (7/2) 4	5 (3/2)	8 (3/5)	7 (5/2)	6 (6/0)
Gestational age (wks)	18 (14-22)	22.7 (22-33)	25.4 (23.9-29.7)	26.4 (24.6-29.9)	28.9 (26.0-31.3)
Birth weight (g)	180 (30-510)	540 (340-2230)	595 (305-1525)	675 (495-925)	918 (670-1250)
Antenatal betamethasone (+/-)			5/3	3/3 5	2/4
Surfactant treatment (+/-)			7/1	8/0	5/1
Age at death (d)		0.08 (0.01-1)	1.5 (0.5-2.0)	11 (8-16)	148 (75-306)

Table 2. Characteristics of autopsied subjects (Studies II and III)

Values are expressed as median (range).

<sup>1</sup> Diagnoses at autopsy were meningomyelocele (4), hypoplastic left heart syndrome (2), nonketotic hyperglycinemia (1), diastrophic dysplasia (1), anencephaly (1), hydrocephalus (1), and placental ablation (1).

Ebstein anomaly (1). In Study III, the causes of death of newborn controls were fetofetal transfusion, rupture of fetal <sup>2</sup> In Study II, the newborn controls were term infants who had died as a result of hypoplastic left heart syndrome (4) or membranes, placental ablation, spontaneous abortion, and acute asphyxia.

<sup>3</sup> Of the 27 subjects in Study II, 17 (6 fetuses, 5 RDS, 3 prolonged RDS, and 3 BPD) were also included in Study III. <sup>4</sup> Gender was unknown in one fetus.

<sup>5</sup> Not known in one case.

#### 2. METHODS

### 2.1. Collection and analysis for dilution of TAF samples (I, II)

In Study I, a total of 56 TAF samples were collected from 16 preterm infants during their first 5 postnatal days. In Study II, 249 samples were collected from 32 preterm infants during their first 2 postnatal weeks. The samples were collected once daily by standardized routine tracheal lavage as previously described (Varsila et al. 1995). Briefly, 1 mL of sterile isotonic saline was instilled into the endotracheal tube, the infant was manually ventilated for 3 breaths, and the trachea was suctioned twice, each time for 5 seconds. For analysis of tracheal aspirates, secretions were collected into a trap and transferred into tubes containing 500 I.U. of aprotinin (Trasylol R, Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany) and 5 mg of deferoxiamine (Desferal ®, Ciba, Basel, Switzerland). Aprotinin and deferoxiamine served to minimize oxidative and proteolytic artifacts. The tubes were stored at -20 °C until analysis.

To eliminate the effect of dilution of the TAF samples, the levels of matrix proteinases and their inhibitors in TAF were related to concentrations of the secretory component of immunoglobulin-A IgA (SC), as the reference protein, with direct ELISA. The concentration of SC in lung secretions is independent of capillary leak and not affected by gestational or postnatal age during the first month of life (Watts and Bruce 1995). Secretory IgA isolated from human colostrum served as the standard, and the results were standardized with the help of Dr. B Götze-Speer and Prof. Ch. Speer (University Children's Hospital, Würzburg, Germany). Microtiter plates (Nunc, Roskilde, Denmark) were coated overnight at +4 °C with 100 µL aliquots of 1:2000 diluted antihuman secretory component (Dako, Glostrup,

Denmark) in 50 mM sodium bicarbonate, pH 9.5. After washing with 20 mM Tris-HCl buffer containing 500 mM NaCl (TBS), pH 7.5, the plates were blocked for unspecific protein binding by incubation with 2% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in TBS and washed with 0.05% Tween 20 in TBS (TTBS). TAF samples were diluted between 1:10 to 1:500 in diluting buffer (1% BSA in TTBS), and 100 µL aliquots were added to the wells. After incubation overnight at room temperature, the plates were washed 3 times with TTBS. 100 µL of peroxidase-conjugated rabbit antihuman SC (Dako) was added to each well, and the plates were incubated for 4 hours at room temperature. After being washed with TTBS, the plates were developed by use of 100 µL of substrate solution containing 8 mg of orthophenylenediamine (Dako) and 5 µL of 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in 12 mL water. The optical densities of the plates were read at 450 nm after 30 minutes at room temperature.

## 2.2. Measurement of surfactant maturity (I, II)

For determination of surfactant maturity, TAF samples were collected within 3 h after birth before the infants' treatment with surfactant. The samples were analyzed for lecithin/sphingomyelin ratio (L/S ratio) and the presence of phosphatidyl glycerol (PG) by thin-layer chromathography (Hallman *et al.* 1982).

### **2.3.** Experimental rat model of hyperoxic lung injury (IV)

The rats were placed in a sealed Plexiglas chamber ( $85 \times 60 \times 40 \text{ cm}$ ) and exposed to >95% oxygen for 24, 48, and 60 hours by administration of pure oxygen at 5 L/min. Oxygen concentration was monitored with oxymetry. Control animals were kept in room

air. At different exposure times, animals were anesthetized by intraperitoneal injections of ketamine (Ketalar®, Parke-Davis) 50 mg/kg and xylazine (Narcoxyl®, Veterinaria AG) 10 mg/kg, and killed by cervical dislocation.

#### 2.3.1. Collection of lung samples

From 6 rats per group, immediately after decapitation, the right lung was removed and cut into 2 pieces. The pieces were soaked in isotonic saline, snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80 °C until determination of myeloperoxidase activity. The left lung was removed, fixed in 10% paraformaldehyde for 24 h, embedded in paraffin, and stored at room temperature for subsequent immunohistochemistry.

#### 2.3.2. Bronchoalveolar lavage

Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was performed for additional 8 animals per group in order to avoid any potential artifact introduced by BAL. Immediately after the killing of each rat, the thoracic cavity was opened to expose the trachea, the trachea was cannulated, and the lungs were lavaged by flushing with 10 mL of sterile normal saline as 10 aliquots of 1 mL each. Combined aliquots of BAL fluid (BALF) were kept on ice until centrifuged at 500 x g at 4°C for 10 min, and the supernatant was stored at -20 °C for subsequent analyses. Total protein in the supernatant of BALF was measured by the method of Bradford (1976), and served as an indicator of increased vascular permeability and loss of capillary endothelial membrane integrity.

## 2.3.3. Myeloperoxidase activity in rat lung tissue

The lung samples were thawed, homogenized in phosphate-buffered saline, and centrifuged for 5 minutes at  $16\ 000\ x$ 

g, + 4 °C. Myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity was determined in the pellet as previously described (Kinsella *et al.* 1997). Protein concentration was quantified by the method of Bradford (1976). The results for MPO activity were expressed as mU/mg protein.

#### 2.4. Zymography (II, IV)

For analysis of gelatinolytic activity by zymography, the polypeptides of TAF samples (II) and BALF samples (IV) were separated by 1.5-mm-thick 8 to 10% SDSpolyacrylamide gels impregnated with 1 mg/ mL gelatin (Sigma) or with gelatin labeled fluorescently with 2-methoxy-2,4-diphenyl-3(2H)-furanone (Fluka, Sigma-Aldrich, Buchs SG, Switzerland) as earlier described (Paju et al. 2001). In Study IV, the intensities of gelatinolytic bands were evaluated with a Bio-Rad Model GS-700 Imaging Densitometer using the Quantity-program, a new version of the Molecular Analyst/PC program (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) (Sorsa et al. 1994). Results were expressed as arbitrary units (AU).

#### 2.5. Western blotting (I, II, IV)

The presence and molecular forms of MMP-2, -8, and -9, TIMP-2 (I), and trypsin (II) in TAF samples from preterm infants, and of these MMPs and trypsin in BALF samples from rats (IV) were analyzed by Western blotting. The sources of the antibodies used are listed in the original publications (I, II, IV). After electrophoresis, the proteins were electrotransferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Richmond, CA, USA). The membranes were saturated with 3% gelatin or 5% milk powder (Valio, Helsinki, Finland). The membranes first reacted with specific primary antibodies

overnight at room temperature, and then with secondary antibodies conjugated with alkaline phosphatase or horseradish peroxidase for one hour. The proteins were visualized by incubation of the membranes with Nitro Blue Tetrazolium (Sigma) and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-phosphate (Sigma) solution or by the enhanced chemiluminesence (ECL) detection system according to manufacturer's instructions (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech Inc, NJ, USA).

In Studies I and IV, the intensity levels of different molecular weight forms of the MMPs studied (I, IV) and TIMP-2 (I) were evaluated with the Bio-Rad Model GS-700 Imaging Densitometer using the Molecular Analyst/PC program with correction for background values (Sorsa *et al.* 1994). Results were expressed as arbitrary units (AU).

### 2.6. Time-resolved immunofluorometric assays (II)

trypsinogen-1, The concentrations of trypsinogen-2, and TATI in TAF were determined by specific time-resolved immunofluorometric assays as earlier described (Itkonen et al. 1990, Osman et al. 1993). The detection limit was 0.1  $\mu$ g/L for trypsinogen-1, 0.3 µg/L for trypsinogen-2, and 0.2 µg/L for TATI. The inter- and intraassay coefficients of variation were 10 to 15% for trypsinogen-1, 10 to 12% for trypsinogen-2, and 13 to 14% for TATI (Itkonen et al. 1990, Osman et al. 1993).

## 2.7. Immunohistochemical analyses (II, III, IV)

In autopsy lung specimens from fetuses and infants, the immunoreactivity of trypsin-2 was visualized with monoclonal antitrypsin-2 antibody 8F7 (Itkonen *et al.* 1990) (II, III), and PAR<sub>2</sub> immunoreactivity with polyclonal anti-PAR<sub>2</sub> B5 antibody (Kong *et al.* 1997, Al-Ani *et al.* 1999) (III). In rat lung, trypsin immunoreactivity was analyzed with monoclonal anti-trypsin antibody MAB 1482 (Chemicon International, Temecula, CA, USA), and MMP-8 immunoreactivity with polyclonal anti-MMP-8 antibody (Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997) (IV).

Four-micrometer sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated. To enhance antigen retrieval, the sections were pretreated with microwave heat. Endogenous peroxidase was quenched by incubating the sections in methanol and hydrogen peroxidase. After application of blocking serum, the sections were incubated overnight at room temperature with the primary antibody. Bound antibody was visualized by the avidin-biotin complex immunoperoxidase technique (ABC) (Elite ABC kit, Vectastain, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. The sections were incubated with the biotinylated secondary antibody and the peroxidase-labelled avidin-biotin complex for 30 minutes each. Bound peroxidase was visualized with 3-amino-9-ethyl-carbazole (AEC) solution (A-5754, Sigma), and finally the sections were stained with hematoxylin.

For negative controls, the primary antibodies were replaced with neutral isotonic phosphate-buffered saline (II, III, IV). In addition, for PAR<sub>2</sub>, negative controls were performed by preabsorbing the antibody with the non-conjugated immunogenic peptide and incubating 3 hours at room temperature before application to the tissue. In Study IV, rat pancreatic tissue served as a positive control for trypsin immunohistochemistry, and rat skin specimens served as positive controls for MMP-8 immunohistochemistry (Pirila *et al.* 2001).

In Study III, the immunoreactivity of PAR, and in Study IV, the immunoreactivity of trypsin were analyzed and scored independently by two investigators in a blinded fashion. In each case, the entire section of lung tissue was evaluated. In Study III, PAR, level was scored in a semiquantitative manner as 5 levels (absent = 0, low = 1, moderate = 2, strong = 3, very strong = 4). Separate scores were given for bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium, alveolar epithelium, bronchial smooth muscle cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, and vascular endothelium. In Study IV, the immunoreactivity of trypsin was semiquantified according to the following method: absent = 0, low = 1, moderate =2, or strong = 3. Bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium, alveolar epithelium, and vascular smooth muscle were scored separately.

#### 2.8. Statistical analyses

P values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All calculations were done with StatView 4.1 (Abacus Concepts Inc., Berkeley, CA, USA).

Studies I and II. Patient data in both studies are given as mean  $\pm\pm$  SD. In Study I, results are expressed as mean  $\pm\pm$  SEM, and in Study II as medians and ranges and interquartiles. The Mann-Whitney U-test (I, II) or Fisher's exact test (II) was used to compare differences between groups. Logarithmic transformation of the data was performed for the linear regression analysis used for continuous variables (I, II).

*Studies III and IV.* Data are expressed as medians, interquartiles, and 10th and 90th percentiles. Comparisons between groups were performed with the nonparametric multiple comparison Kruskal-Wallis test. Dunn's test was used for the *post hoc* comparisons.

### RESULTS

#### 1. LUNG INJURY IN PRETERM INFANTS (I, II, III)

### 1.1. MMP-2, MMP-8, and MMP-9, and TIMP-2 in TAF (I)

In TAF samples from 16 preterm infants with respiratory distress, the presence and forms of MMP-2, -8, and -9, and TIMP-2 during the first 5 postnatal days were characterized by use of Western blotting (I, Figure 1). MMP-2 was detectable in TAF samples from all infants. It was detected as high molecular weight complexed forms, at the level of 70 and 60 kD corresponding to latent and active forms of MMP-2, and as lower molecular weight fragmented forms (I, Figure 1). Both the neutrophil-derived 70- to 80-kD isoform of MMP-8 and the mesenchymal cellderived 40- to 60-kD MMP-8 occurred. Of the isoforms, the neutrophil-derived MMP-8 species clearly predominated, and it appeared in all infants. In 13 of them, mesenchymal

cell-derived MMP-8 was also detectable. Neutrophil-derived active MMP-8 appeared in a small number of samples, and MMP-8 also in complexed and fragmented forms (**I**, Figure 1). MMP-9 was detectable in 13 infants, in complexed, 90-kD latent, and active forms (**I**, Figure 1). TIMP-2 was demonstrable as high molecular weight complexed forms, in native intact form, and 8 infants showed fragmented TIMP-2 (**I**, Figure 1). TIMP-2 could be detected in TAF samples from all but one infant who died of severe respiratory distress at the age of 12 days.

The levels of MMP-2, -8, and -9 in TAF samples were evaluated by densitometric scanning of the Western blots.

Parameter	Total MMP-2	Latent MMP-8		Total MMP-9	Total TIMP-2
		PMN	Mes		
Gestational age	R = 0.37*	R = 0.03	R = 0.59**	R = 0.05	R = 0.46**
Birth weight	R = 0.16	R = -0.18	R = 0.37*	R = -0.12	R = 0.33*
PROM, present	121.9 ± 44.4	26.8 ± 6.2	4.1 ± 1.9	7.9 ± 1.9	8.6 ± 2.1
VS	VS	VS	VS	VS	VS
PROM, absent	71.1 ± 40.0*	9.8 ± 2.3***	3.4 ± 3.0	1.8 ± 0.5*	14.9 ± 9.2

 Table 3. Perinatal variables and levels of MMP-2, -8, and -9, and TIMP-2 (AU/SC unit) in TAF during the first 5 postnatal days (Study I)

PMN, neutrophil-derived; Mes, mesenchymal cell-derived; PROM, premature rupture of the membranes > 24 hours before labor

\* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.001, \*\*\* P < 0.0001

**MMP-2.** Total MMP-2 immunoreactivity (complexed + latent + active + fragmented) in TAF during the first 5 postnatal days showed a positive correlation with gestational age, but not with birth weight (Table 3). A negative correlation existed between MMP-2 and umbilical cord artery pH and base excess (both R = -0.29, P < .05).

**MMP-8.** During the first 5 postnatal days, levels of mesenchymal-derived latent MMP-8 showed positive correlations with gestational age and birth weight (Table 3). In contrast, no correlations existed between levels of neutrophil-derived latent MMP-8 and gestational age or birth weight (Table 3). Levels of neutrophil-derived latent MMP-8 were strongly associated

Table 4. Paran	neters of respirator	distress and levels	of neutrophil-derived	latent MMP-8 in TAF	(Study	I)
----------------	----------------------	---------------------	-----------------------	---------------------	--------	----

3

+ vs -, levels of neutrophil-derived latent MMP-8 in infants with or without the given factor \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001

with an immature surfactant profile and severe respiratory distress; an inverse correlation existed with L/S ratio, and significantly higher levels were demonstrated in infants in whom phosphatidyl glycerol was undetectable in surfactant analysis (Table 4). Levels of neutrophil-derived latent MMP-8 were significantly higher in infants who needed surfactant treatment, and these levels showed a positive correlation with number of surfactant doses given. Moreover, the levels of neutrophil-derived latent MMP-8 during the first 5 postnatal days were associated with prolonged respiratory distress, as indicated by higher levels of the enzyme in infants intubated for longer than 1 week and in those who later were treated with dexamethasone to facilitate weaning from mechanical ventilation (Table 4).

**MMP-9.** No correlations existed between levels of total MMP-9 immunoreactivity (complexed + latent + active) and gestational age or birth weight (Table 3). Levels of MMP-9 during the study period showed no association with surfactant treatment and no correlation with duration of mechanical ventilation. TIMP-2. During the first 5 postnatal days, a positive correlation existed between levels of total TIMP-2 in TAF (complexed + native + fragmented) and gestational age and birth weight (Table 3). The levels showed positive correlations with levels of total MMP-2 and total MMP-9 (R = 0.68, R = 0.64, respectively; both P < 0.0001). In addition, a positive correlation existed between the levels of TIMP-2 and mesenchymal cellderived latent MMP-8 (R = 0.61, P = 0.003), but no correlation existed with neutrophilderived latent MMP-8 (R = 0.03, P = 0.8). TIMP-2 was lower in infants with more severe respiratory distress, as indicated by lower levels in infants with an initial arterialto-alveolar oxygen tension ratio  $(aAPO_2) <$ 0.22 (I, Figure 2A), in infants who needed treatment with surfactant, and in those requiring mechanical ventilation for more than one week (I, Figure 2B).

Association with premature rupture of membranes (PROM). In premature infants born to mothers with PROM, TAF levels of total MMP-2 and MMP-9, as well as those of neutrophil-derived latent MMP-8, were significantly higher than in other infants. In contrast, no significant difference existed in the levels of mesenchymal cell-derived latent MMP-8 and TIMP-2 (Table 3).

## **1.2.** Trypsin and tumor-associated trypsin inhibitor (TATI) in TAF (II)

By use of gelatin zymography and Western blotting, two major immunoreactive species

of trypsin was identified: trypsin-1 and trypsin-2 with molecular weights of 25 and 28 kD. In addition, 40-kD to 100-kD relatively faint complexed forms of trypsin were present (**H**, Figure 1).

The concentrations of trypsinogen-1 and trypsinogen-2, and TATI in TAF determined by specific immunofluorometric assays were above the detection limit of the assay in 86%, 96%, and 97% of the samples, respectively.

The median (range) concentration of trypsinogen-1 was 1.6 (0.0-95) ng/SC unit during week 1, and 0.9 (0.0-17) ng/SC unit during week 2. During week 1, the median concentration of trypsinogen-2 was 14.5 (0.0-235) ng/SC unit, and during week 2 was 17.3 (0.0-267) ng/SC unit. During weeks 1 and 2, positive correlations appeared between the concentrations of trypsinogen-1 and trypsinogen-2 (R = 0.49 and R = 0.45; both P <0.0001). The median concentration of TATI during week 1 was 35.1 (3.9-926) ng/SC unit, and 21.0 (2.6-342) ng/SC unit during week 2. During weeks 1 and 2, positive correlations appeared between concentrations of TATI and trypsinogen-1 (R = 0.41, P < 0.001; R =0.44, P < 0.0001), and between those of TATI and trypsinogen-2 (R = 0.34, P < 0.01; R =0.50, P < 0.0001).

**Trypsinogen-1.** During week 1, trypsinogen-1 showed a positive correlation with gestational age (R = 0.36, P < 0.001). Its concentration correlated neither with proteinuric pre-eclampsia, antenatal glucocorticoid treatment, birth weight, severity of acute respiratory distress, nor duration of mechanical ventilation.

Parameter	Trypsinogen-2 (ng/SC unit)			
	Week 1	Week 2		
L/S ratio <sup>1</sup>	R = -0.36**	R = -0.66***		
PG in TAF (+ vs -) <sup>2</sup>	5.5 (0.4-25) vs 19.4 (0-235)***	1.8 (0.5-10.5) vs 23.0 (0-193)***		
aAPO₂ ≤ 0.22 (+ vs -) <sup>3</sup>	19.1 (0.4-235) vs 11.0 (0-118)	27.2 (0.5-266) vs 9.5 (0-66)***		
Surfactant therapy (+ vs -)	20.9 (0-235) vs 10.7 (0-118)*	23.0 (0-266) vs 8.0 (0-66)**		
Dexamethasone (+ vs -)	19.8 (0-235) vs 8.6 (0-158)**	14.3 (0-266) vs 28.3 (0-38)		
Duration of intubation (d)	R = 0.30**	R = 0.1		
BPD (+ vs -)	22.0 (0.4-235) vs 10.0 (0-114)***	25.5 (0.5-266) vs 9.0 (0-66)***		

 Table 5. Parameters of respiratory distress and concentrations of trypsinogen-2 in TAF during weeks 1 and 2 (Study II)

Values presented as median (range).

+ vs -, concentrations of trypsinogen-2 in infants with or without the given factor

<sup>1</sup> Lecithin/sphingomyelin ratio and <sup>2</sup> phosphatidyl glycerol, measured from TAF sample obtained within 3 hours after birth; <sup>3</sup> Arterial to alveolar oxygen tension ratio

\* P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.0005

Trypsinogen-2. During week 1, the concentration of trypsinogen-2 showed a weak negative correlation with birth weight (R = -0.26, P = 0.005), but no correlation existed between the concentration of trypsinogen-2 and gestational age. No association was detectable between the concentration of trypsinogen-2 and antenatal glucocorticoid treatment. Trypsinogen-2 was significantly higher in preterm infants born to mothers with proteinuric pre-eclampsia, than in those whose mothers had chorioamnionitis or PROM, or in preterm infants without these antenatal complications (II, Figure 2). A negative correlation appeared between trypsinogen-2 concentration and surfactant maturity, as measured by lecithin/sphingomyelin ratio (L/S-ratio), and the presence of phosphatidyl glycerol in TAF (Table 5). Trypsinogen-2 was higher in preterm infants with a more severe acute respiratory distress, as indicated by higher concentrations of trypsinogen-2 in preterm infants with an initial  $aAPO_2$  $\leq$  0.22, and in those who needed treatment

with surfactant (Table 5). During week 1, higher concentrations of trypsinogen-2 were detectable in preterm infants who, to facilitate weaning from mechanical ventilation, received dexamethasone (age at start of treatment: mean  $\pm$  SD: 13  $\pm$  7 days; range: 3-33 days). In addition, concentration of trypsinogen-2 during week 1 showed a positive correlation with duration of mechanical ventilation (Table 5).

TATI. Positive correlations appeared between birth weight and TATI concentrations during weeks 1 and 2 (R = 0.27, P = 0.008; R= 0.38, P = 0.0002). No correlation existed between TATI and proteinuric pre-eclampsia or severity of acute respiratory distress. However, concentrations of TATI during week 1 were lower in preterm infants who needed mechanical ventilation for more than one week: median 27.2 (range 3.9 - 926) ng/ SC unit vs. 61.8 (range 18.4 - 534) ng/SCunit, P < 0.0001. 1.3. Matrix proteinases and their inhibitors in TAF, and development of BPD (I, II), MMP-2

MMP-8, MMP-9, and TIMP-2 (I). During the first 5 postnatal days, levels of neutrophilderived latent MMP-8 were significantly higher in TAF samples from preterm infants who subsequently developed BPD than in those who survived without it (Table 4, Figure 3 in Study I). No associations existed between development of BPD and levels of mesenchymal cell-derived MMP-8, MMP-2, MMP-9, or TIMP-2. When all patients with an unfavorable respiratory outcome (6 infants who subsequently developed BPD and 2 infants who died from severe respiratory distress on days 12 and 24) were combined, in this group levels of TIMP-2 in TAF were significantly lower than in the group in which respiratory distress resolved (P < 0.05).

**Trypsinogen-1, trypsinogen-2, and TATI** (II). Those preterm infants who subsequently developed BPD had significantly higher trypsinogen-2 in TAF during days 5 to 10 than did those who survived without it (II, Figure 3). In addition, during weeks 1 and 2, the ratio of trypsinogen-2 to TATI was higher in preterm infants who subsequently developed BPD than in those surviving without it (II, Figure 4). No differences in trypsinogen-1 concentrations were detectable between the two groups.

## 1.4. Immunolocalization of trypsin-2 and PAR, in human lung (II, III)

1.4.1 Trypsin-2 and  $PAR_2$  during the perinatal period

**Trypsin-2.** In lung tissue from the total 12 fetuses studied by trypsin-2 immunohistochemistry, faint positive

immunostaining was detectable in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelial cells in 5, whereas samples from 7 fetuses were totally negative (II, Figure 5A; III). Similarly, bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium was weakly positive in 3 of the 5 newborn infants (gestational ages 22.4 to 33.0 weeks) who had died within 1 day after delivery without histologic signs of RDS (III). Faint positive staining in the bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium was also demonstrable in lung sections from all of the 5 term infants with normal histology who had died at 12 hours to 3 days. In one of them, positive staining was also detectable in alveolar type II-like pneumocytes (II, Figure 5F).

**PAR**<sub>2</sub>. Positive immunostaining for PAR<sub>2</sub> was scored semiquantitatively, with separate scores given for bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium, alveolar epithelium, bronchial smooth muscle, vascular smooth muscle, and vascular endothelium (III, Figure 1).

In samples from all fetuses and infants, immunostaining for PAR, was detected in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium as well as in alveolar epithelium. In the 10 fetuses studied, the level of PAR, immunoreactivity in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium was low or moderate, although in one (gestational age 14 weeks), immunoreactivity was strong (III, Figures 1A and 2A). In cuboidal lining cells of the prospective pulmonary acini, immunoreactivity was moderate or strong (III, Figures 1B and 2B). The endothelium and the bronchial and vascular smooth muscle cells were negative, or showed only a low level of immunoreactivity (III, Figures 1C-E and 2A). In newborn infants who had died without lung disorders within 1 day after delivery, expression of PAR, in the cell types studied was predominantly low (III, Figures 1 and 3A).

1.4.2. Immunolocalization of trypsin-2 and  $PAR_2$  in acute and chronic lung injury in preterm infants

Trypsin-2. In preterm infants who had died as a result of RDS at the age of 0 to 3 days, the lung sections were mainly negative in trypsin-2 immunostaining. Of the total of 9 preterm infants with RDS, bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium as well as hyaline membranes showed weak positive staining in 5 (II, Figure 5B; III). In contrast, in preterm infants who had died as a result of prolonged RDS at the age of 8 to 16 days, bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium was predominantly strongly positive. In addition, strong positive staining was detectable in type II-like pneumocytes lining walls of the airspaces, and of the 7 infants, positive staining was apparent also in vascular endothelial cells in 2 (II, Figure 5D; III, Figures 4B and 4C). In infants who had died of BPD (age at death 75 to 306 days), positive staining that ranged from low to strong was detectable in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium, as well as in bronchial metaplastic stratified squamous epithelium, while the alveolar epithelium was mainly negative (II, Figure 5E; III, Figure 4F).

**PAR**<sub>2</sub>. In preterm infants who died of acute RDS at the age of 0 to 2 days, a moderate level of  $PAR_2$  immunoreactivity was evident in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium, whereas of the 8 preterm infants studied, the level was low in alveolar epithelium in 4 (**III**, Figures 1A, 1B and 3B). No significant difference was detected in the level of  $PAR_2$  immunoreactivity between preterm infants who died as a result of acute RDS and newborn infants (gestational ages 22.4 to 33.0 weeks) without histologic signs of RDS.

In preterm infants who died as a result of prolonged RDS, the level of PAR<sub>2</sub> expression inbronchial and bronchiolar epithelium ranged

from moderate to very strong (III, Figures 1A and 3C), and in alveolar epithelium, the level was strong in 5 of 7 preterm infants (III, Figures 1A and 3D). When compared with newborn controls, the level of PAR, immunoreactivity in infants with prolonged RDS was significantly higher in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium, in alveolar epithelium, and in bronchial and vascular smooth muscle (III, Figure 1). In addition, the level of PAR, in vascular endothelium tended to be higher than in newborn controls (P =0.07). In all infants who died of prolonged RDS, marked expression of PAR, was also apparent in spindle-shaped cells of thickened alveolar walls and in fibrotic foci (III, Figure 3C). The cells showed strong positive staining in immunohistochemical analysis for  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin, thus obviously representing lung myofibroblasts.

In lung specimens from preterm infants who had died of BPD, the level of PAR, immunoreactivity was strongest in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium (III, Figure 1). In these samples, PAR, immunoreactivity was significantly higher in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium and also in bronchial smooth muscle than in samples from newborn infants without lung disorders (III, Figure 1). As in infants who had died of prolonged RDS, in all infants with BPD, marked expression of PAR, was detectable in the  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin-positive myofibroblasts of thickened and fibrotic alveolar walls (III, Figures 3E and 3F). In addition, PAR, expression was visible in alveolar macrophages (III, Figure 3E).

**Co-localization of trypsin-2 with PAR<sub>2</sub> in lung tissue.** In preterm infants who had died as a result of prolonged RDS, the expression of trypsin-2 was co-localized with PAR<sub>2</sub> in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium and in type-II-like pneumocytes lining alveolar walls (III, Figures 4A and 4B). In addition, in 2 of these infants (N = 7), the vascular endothelium showed strong immunoreactivity to both trypsin-2 and PAR<sub>2</sub> (III, Figures 4C and 4D). In preterm infants who had died of

BPD, trypsin-2 co-localized with  $PAR_2$  in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium (III, Figures 4E and 4F).

#### 2. EXPERIMENTAL HYPEROXIC LUNG INJURY IN THE RAT (IV)

Exposure of rats to >95%  $O_2$  caused no evident signs of respiratory distress or macroanatomic changes until 60 hours of exposure, at which point pleural effusions were visible upon opening of the thoracic cavity, and the lungs appeared hemorrhagic and consolidated. The concentration of protein in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity in lung tissue were not increased until at 48 hours (IV, Figure 1). At 60 hours, a 10-fold increase in BALF protein was detected compared with BALF from control animals exposed to room air (IV, Figure 1A).

### 2.1. Characterization of MMP-2, -8, and -9, and trypsin in BALF

At 48 hours of exposure, three gelatinolytic proteinases of molecular weight 28, 68, and 90 kD were clearly detected in gelatin zymograms, and the gelatinolytic activity was further increased at 60 hours of exposure (**IV**, Figure 2A). In contrast, almost no gelatinolytic activity was detectable in BALF samples from controls or from rats exposed to hyperoxia for 24 hours (**IV**, Figure 2A). By use of Western blotting, the 28-kD species was identified as trypsin (**IV**, Figure 2B), and the 68-kD and 90-kD species as latent forms of MMP-2 and MMP–9, respectively. At 48 hours and 60 hours of exposure, Western blott

analysis of BALF samples with anti-MMP-8 antibody revealed both neutrophil-derived 80-kD and mesenchymal cell-derived 60-kD MMP-8 species, of which the latter clearly predominated. No MMP-8 immunoreactivity was visible in BALF samples from controls or from rats exposed to hyperoxia for 24 hours (IV, Figure 2C). Densitometric analysis showed that the levels of trypsin and MMP-2 were significantly increased by 48 hours of hyperoxia (IV, Figures 3A, 3B). At 60 hours, the levels of these enzymes were further increased, and significant increases were also detectable in the levels of MMP-9 (IV, Figure 3) as well as both neutrophil-derived and mesenchymal cell-derived MMP-8 (IV, Figure 4).

### 2.2. Immunolocalization of trypsin and MMP-8 in rat lung

**Trypsin.** In controls rats exposed to room air, weak expression of trypsin was detectable in the bronchial and bronchiolar epithelial cells, whereas the alveolar epithelium was predominantly negative (**IV**, Figure 5A). In rats exposed to hyperoxia for 24 hours, a tendency for increased trypsin immunoreactivity appeared in the bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium when compared with normoxia controls (**IV**, Figures 5B and 6B). At 48 and 60 hours of hyperoxia,

marked expression of trypsin appeared in the alveolar epithelium, while in the bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium the expression level remained low (IV, Figures 5C and 5D). In the alveolar epithelium, the level of trypsin immunoreactivity was significantly increased in rats exposed to hyperoxia for 48 and 60 hours when compared with normoxia controls (P < 0.05 and P < 0.005, respectively) (IV, Figure 6A). In 4 rats per exposure group (N = 6 in group), moderate to strong trypsin immunoreactivity was visible in vascular smooth muscle of the large arteries after exposure to hyperoxia for 48 and 60 hours. In addition, trypsin immunoreactivity appeared in the hyaline membranes and occasionally in intra-alveolar macrophages mainly seen at 60 hours of hyperoxia.

MMP-8. In sections of rat lung, almost immunoreactivity to MMP-8 was no detectable until 48 hours of hyperoxia, at which time point positive cells with a large cytoplasm, obviously representing recruited macrophages, could be demonstrable in the edematous perivascular space (IV, Figures 7A-7C). After 60 hours of hyperoxia, a great number of macrophages strongly positive for MMP-8 appeared in the alveoli as well as in the interstitium (IV, Figures 7D and 7E). Although expression of MMP-8 was predominantly localized macrophages, it was also visible in intravascular and perivascular neutrophils at 48 hours of hyperoxia, and, in addition, at 60 hours in neutrophils located in the interstitial and intra-alveolar space (IV, Figure 7D and 7F).

### DISCUSSION

Lung ECM provides a highly structurized reservoir of various growth factors and cytokines, and it influences the proliferation, migration, differentiation, and functioning of lung epithelial and mesenchymal cells (Dunsmore and Rannels 1996). Therefore, remodeling of the ECM and BM, a process in which MMPs play key roles, is an important part of harmonious pulmonary development (Roth-Kleiner and Post 2005, Ryu *et al.* 2005). During lung inflammation, excessive production and release of matrix proteinases including MMPs and matrix serine proteinases cause dysregulated degradation of ECM and BM, which in the preterm lung may subsequently lead to abnormal repair and aberrant lung development, and eventually result in BPD (Chua *et al.* 2005).

#### 1. MMP-2, -8, AND -9, AND TIMP-2 IN LUNG INJURY IN PRETERM INFANTS

We characterized the presence, molecular forms, and species of MMP-2 (gelatinase A), MMP-9 (gelatinase B), and MMP-8 (collagenase-2), as well as their specific inhibitor TIMP-2 in TAF samples from preterm infants with respiratory distress during the early postnatal period and showed that MMP-8 in TAF consisted of both 70-80 kD neutrophil-derived and 40-60 kD mesenchymal cell-derived isoforms of MMP-8. In line with this, both isoforms of MMP-8 also exist in BALF samples from adult patients with asthma and from those with bronchiectasis (Prikk et al. 2001a, 2002). Of the MMP-8 isoforms, the neutrophilderived species predominated in preterm infants. Although neutrophil-derived MMP-8 appeared mostly in its non-converted latent 80-kD form, this form may represent an oxidatively activated form of MMP-8 *in vivo*. Activation of MMP-8 *in vitro* by reactive oxygen species does not necessarily involve any change in molecular weight (Saari *et al.* 1990), and the lungs of preterm infants with RDS and of those subsequently developing BPD show increased oxidative stress (Varsila *et al.* 1995).

We found neutrophil-derived latent MMP-8 to be strongly associated with severity of acute respiratory distress. In addition, during the first five postnatal days it was higher in those preterm infants in whom respiratory distress prolonged, i.e. who were mechanically ventilated for more than one week and who required treatment with dexamethasone. Moreover, those preterm infants who subsequently developed BPD showed higher TAF levels of neutrophilderived latent MMP-8 than did those who survived without it. This is consistent with the finding of Sweet *et al.* (2001) who, in BALF samples from preterm infants who later developed BPD, showed higher levels of MMP-8 during the first six postnatal days. In accordance with these findings, the concentrations and activation levels of MMP-8 are increased in BALF from adults with chronic tissue-destructive lung diseases including asthma and bronchiectasis (Prikk *et al.* 2001a, 2002).

In the preterm lung, MMP-8 can induce tissue injury through its capacity to degrade type I collagen, the major structural protein of the ECM. In addition, it can degrade and inactivate  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin, thereby promoting the activities of serine proteinases trypsin and elastase (Owen *et al.* 2004). Recent studies in MMP-8 knockout animals have, however, shown that MMP-8 may also have anti-inflammatory effects, including a role in the regulation of neutrophil apoptosis during allergen-induced airway inflammation (Gueders *et al.* 2005).

In contrast to neutrophil-derived MMP-8, the levels of mesenchymal cell-derived MMP-8 during the first 5 postnatal days showed positive correlations with gestational age and birth weight. In this respect, mesenchymal cell-derived MMP-8 resembled MMP-2, which also correlated with gestational age, and appeared to be expressed constitutively. These results suggest that these two may be involved in the remodeling of ECM associated with lung growth. In experimental animals, MMP-2 is involved in late fetal lung development and postnatal lung growth (Arden et al. 1993, Fukuda et al. 2000). In general, MMP-2 is produced constitutively, and during lung development is mainly expressed by mesenchymal cells such as vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells (Kheradmand et al. 2002, Masumoto et al. 2005). Although we found no association

between levels of MMP-2 during the first five postnatal days and the subsequent development of BPD, later studies by Danan *et al.* (2002) and Ekekezie *et al.* (2004) have shown lower levels of MMP-2 early postnatally in tracheal aspirates from preterm infants subsequently developing BPD. In the study of Danan *et al.*, the difference in MMP-2 levels between groups was detectable in TAF samples collected within six hours after birth, but not on day three or five. Similarly, Ekekezie *et al.* detected an association between low MMP-2 and BPD in samples collected on days zero to three.

We could show no association between levels of MMP-9 in TAF during the first 5 postnatal days and severity of respiratory distress or subsequent development of BPD. This is consistent with the results of Ekekezie *et al.* (2004) who found no difference in TAF levels of MMP-9 during the first two postnatal weeks between preterm infants developing BPD or not. They, however, detected lower levels of TIMP-1 and a higher ratio of MMP-9 to TIMP-1 during the first two postnatal weeks in preterm infants who subsequently developed BPD than in those who recovered from RDS.

Premature rupture of the membranes (PROM) is associated with intra-amnionic inflammation, a risk factor for subsequent development of BPD (Watterberg *et al.* 1996, Jobe 2003). These preterm infants may initially have no RDS or only mild respiratory disease, but after a few days or weeks show progressive deterioration of lung function and increased ventilatory and oxygen requirements (Bancalari *et al.* 2003).

Our study showed higher levels of neutrophil-derived MMP-8, but also higher levels of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in infants born to mothers with PROM than in infants born to mothers without this complication. In contrast, no difference was detectable in the levels of TIMP-2. The increase in the levels of several pulmonary MMPs insufficiently counteracted by TIMP-2 during the early postnatal period may be involved in the increased risk for development of BPD in these infants. Our results are in agreement with those of Curley *et al.* (2003, 2004), who have demonstrated higher levels of MMP-8 and MMP-9, but not TIMP-1, in BALF from ventilated preterm infants from pregnancies complicated by chorioamnionitis.

We detected TIMP-2 predominantly as high molecular weight complexed forms reflecting TIMP-2-species bound to MMPs, but free native and fragmented lower molecular weight species also occurred. Fragmented TIMP-2 appeared in 8 of our 16 preterm infants. During the first 5 postnatal days, the levels of total TIMP-2 were lower in infants with more severe acute respiratory distress, and in those who later had a poor respiratory outcome (development of BPD or death from prolonged severe respiratory distress). It is noteworthy that these clinical conditions were also associated with higher levels of MMP-8 in TAF. These results suggest that an imbalance between MMP-8 and its endogenous inhibitor TIMP-2 in the lungs of preterm infants may play a role in the acute lung injury, and thereby may influence its outcome. Our finding of an association between low TIMP-2 and poor respiratory outcome is in agreement with that of Ekekezie et al. (2004) who in preterm infants subsequently developing BPD showed low TIMP-2 early postnatally (Ekekezie et al. 2004).

#### 2. TRYPSIN-1, AND -2, AND TATI IN LUNG INJURY IN PRETERM INFANTS

We observed higher pulmonary concentrations of trypsinogen-2 in preterm infants with more severe acute respiratory distress. Moreover, the concentrations were higher during days 5 to 10 in those subsequently developing BPD than in those who survived without it. In addition, those infants developing BPD had a higher ratio of trypsinogen-2 to TATI during week 1 and week 2. No differences occurred in the concentrations of trypsinogen-1 between these groups.

In preterm infants who had died of acute RDS on days 0 to 3, immunohistochemical analysis for trypsin-2 showed weak positive staining in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelial cells in 5 of the 9 studied infants, whereas the other 4 showed no trypsin-2. In contrast, in those who died at age 8 to 16 days, the bronchial and bronchiolar epithelium showed intense expression of trypsin-2, and marked positive staining was also evident in type II-like pneumocytes lining the walls of the airspaces.

In the lungs of infants dying of nonpulmonary causes, trypsin-2 was expressed at low levels in bronchial and bronchiolar epithelial cells, in line with the findings of studies showing expression of trypsin in normal adult human bronchial epithelium, and this supports the hypothesis that trypsin may also participate in normal cellular functions (Koshikawa et al. 1998, Cocks et al. 1999).

Little is known about the role of trypsin in the lung. If dysregulated, trypsin may cause pulmonary tissue destruction through direct degradation of ECM and BM proteins (Koivunen et al. 1991, Koshikawa et al. 1992, Moilanen *et al.* 2003, Stenman *et al.* 2005) as well as through activation of various proMMPs, including MMP-1, -3, -8, -9, and -13 (Sorsa *et al.* 1997, Moilanen *et al.* 2003). We observed activation of the MMP cascade in the lungs of preterm infants with respiratory distress (**I**). During the inflammatory reaction,  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin is inactivated both oxidatively by reactive oxygen species released from inflammatory cells (Carp and Janoff 1980) and proteolytically by several MMPs, including MMP-8 and -9 (Liu *et al.* 2000, Owen *et al.* 2004). Thus, MMP-8 and trypsin-2 may act synergistically by potentiating each others' activity during development of lung injury in preterm infants.

The potential role of pulmonary trypsin in the development of BPD raises the possibility of preventing BPD by use of exogenous proteinase inhibitors;  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin protects neonatal rats from the toxic effects of oxygen on pulmonary parenchymal and vascular development (Koppel et al. 1994). Furthermore, in a randomized, controlled trial, prophylactic administration of  $\alpha_1$ antitrypsin intravenously to preterm infants with RDS reduced the incidence of pulmonary hemorrhage and the use of inhaled steroids and bronchodilators, although it failed to reduce the risk for BPD at 36 gestational weeks (Stiskal et al. 1998). On the basis of our results, the favorable effects of  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin may partially be explained by inhibition of pulmonary trypsin.

### 2.1. PAR<sub>2</sub> in lung injury in preterm infants

Extrapancreatic trypsin-2 potently activates PAR<sub>2</sub> (Alm *et al.* 2000). We observed that in preterm infants who had died of prolonged RDS, trypsin-2 was co-localized with PAR<sub>2</sub> in bronchial and alveolar epithelium. PAR<sub>2</sub> was highly expressed in the bronchial and bronchial and bronchial and the expression was significantly stronger in

comparison with newborn infants who had died of nonpulmonary reasons. In addition, the level of PAR<sub>2</sub> immunoreactivity in alveolar epithelium of preterm infants with prolonged RDS was significantly higher than in newborn infants.

Interestingly, we detected strong expression of PAR, in  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin-positive myofibroblasts of the thickened and fibrotic alveolar walls in preterm infants who died of prolonged RDS or BPD. Trypsin is capable of inducing lung fibroblast proliferation via activation of PAR<sub>2</sub> (Akers et al. 2000). Myofibroblasts are derived from activated fibroblasts, and play an important role in tissue remodeling following acute lung injury. In preterm infants with acute lung injury, myofibroblasts increase in number and form bundles encircling terminal air spaces during the early postnatal period (Toti et al. 1997). Our findings of higher PAR, in myofibroblasts suggest that PAR, may be involved in the fibroproliferation associated with development of BPD.

PAR<sub>2</sub> was also visualized in bronchial and vascular smooth muscle, vascular endothelium, and alveolar macrophages, in accord with studies on the localization of PAR<sub>2</sub> in the adult human lung (D'Andrea *et al.* 1998, Akers *et al.* 2000, Ricciardolo *et al.* 2000, Knight *et al.* 2001, Asokananthan *et al.* 2002, Steinhoff *et al.* 2005).

In the respiratory epithelium, activation of PAR<sub>2</sub> stimulates the release of inflammatory mediators such as IL-6, IL-8, and matrix metalloproteinase-9, suggesting an important role for PAR<sub>2</sub> in lung inflammation and tissue remodeling (Vliagoftis *et al.* 2000, Asokananthan *et al.* 2002). In preterm infants with respiratory distress, the development of BPD is characterized by a persistent inflammatory pulmonary reaction associated with epithelial cell damage and increased alveocapillary permeability (Merritt *et al.* 1983, Groneck *et al.* 1994, Watterberg *et al.* 

1996). In addition to alveolar macrophages, vascular endothelium and respiratory epithelium play an important role in the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines

(Kotecha *et al.* 1996). Up-regulated  $PAR_2$  in the injured preterm lung may be involved in this inflammatory process.

#### 3. MMP-2, -8, AND -9, AND TRYPSIN IN HYPEROXIC LUNG INJURY IN THE RAT

Hyperoxic lung injury is characterized by damage to the alveolar-capillary barrier with subsequent increased pulmonary vascular permeability, progressive inflammation, and pulmonary edema (Crapo et al. 1980). The early stages of oxygen toxicity begin with an initiation phase, occurring within the first 40 hours of hyperoxia exposure, in which few demonstrable morphologic changes exist (Crapo et al. 1980). We detected in the rat a rapid increase in the pulmonary expression of trypsin during the early development of hyperoxic lung injury. After 48 hours of exposure to >95% oxygen, strong expression of trypsin occurred in the alveolar epithelium, which-in contrast-showed almost immunoreactivity for trypsin under normoxic conditions.

In addition to trypsin, zymography of BALF samples from rats exposed to 48 and 60 hours of hyperoxia demonstrated the upregulation of two other gelatinolytic enzymes identified as MMP-2 and -9. Similarly to trypsin, MMP-2 and MMP-9 can efficiently degrade BM components (Sorsa et al. 1997, Chakrabarti and Patel 2005). The marked up-regulation of trypsin, MMP-2, and -9 in BALF coincided with an increase in the alveolar-capillary permeability, as indicated by an increased protein concentration in BALF, suggesting a role in the degradation of alveolar-capillary BM associated with the development of hyperoxic lung injury. In accordance with our results, increased expression of pulmonary MMP-2 and -9 has

been shown in rats exposed to 100% oxygen for 60 hours (Pardo *et al.* 1996).

Although trypsin in vitro efficiently activates latent forms of MMPs, including MMP-8 and -9 by removing the propeptide, most of the MMPs-2, -8, and -9 detected in BALF samples were as demonstrated by Western blotting, in their non-converted proforms. These findings are in line with those of Study I, in which we found that especially MMP-8, but also MMP-9 was mainly detectable in latent form in TAF samples from preterm infants. Some of the non-converted forms may, however, represent oxidatively activated forms of these MMPs in vivo, since in vitro oxidative activation of MMP-8 or -9 does not necessarily involve changes in their molecular sizes (Westerlund et al. 1996).

A rat model of experimental pancreatitisassociated lung injury has shown that infusion of trypsin or trypsinogen causes acute dosedependent pulmonary injury characterized by perivascular edema and hemorrhage (Hartwig *et al.* 1999). These authors further showed that this lung injury is neutrophildependent, and is possibly mediated by the ability of trypsin to up-regulate pulmonary intercellular adhesion molecule-1, a key vascular endothelial adhesion molecule necessary for transport of leukocytes from the intravascular space into inflamed tissues (Hartwig *et al.* 2004).

It is noteworthy that the increased trypsin in the alveolar epithelium may also play a protective role in the development of lung injury. In the injured lung, active transepithelial transport of Na+ limits alveolar edema. The effect of serine proteinases, including trypsin, on ion transport has recently been studied by Swystun et al. (2005), who demonstrated in vitro that apical trypsin enhanced both ion transport across rat alveolar type II cells and paracellular resistance, indicating that trypsin may play an important role in the clearance of alveolar fluid. Moreover, in fluid-filled lungs in a rat model, inhibition of trypsin activity by intratracheal instillation of soybean trypsin inhibitor or  $\alpha_1$ -antitrypsin decreases the amiloride-sensitive lung-fluid clearance, and this effect is partially restored by instillation of trypsin (Swystun et al. 2005).

We observed a marked up-regulation of MMP-8 in the rat lung after 48 hours of exposure to hyperoxia. MMP-8 has been regarded solely as a neutrophil-specific MMP or collagenase-2 stored in granules and released upon activation (Weiss 1989). However, certain activated mesenchymal cells also express MMP-8 (Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997). In BALF, we detected both neutrophil-derived 80-kD MMP-8 and 60-kD mesenchymal cell-derived MMP-8 species, of which the latter clearly predominated. This is in contrast with our previous findings of MMP-8 in TAF samples from preterm infants, in which the neutrophil-derived MMP-8 was the main isoform of the MMP-8 detected. Immunohistochemical analysis confirmed that in the hyperoxic lung, MMP-8 was mostly expressed in recruited macrophages, which at 48 hours were detectable in the perivascular space and subsequently at 60 hours in the alveoli and interstitium.

Recently, an unexpected anti-inflammatory role was evidenced for MMP-8 in the lung (Owen *et al.* 2004, Gueders *et al.* 2005). One possible mechanism is the regulation of inflammatory cell apoptosis, as demonstrated during allergen-induced lung inflammation by reduced neutrophil apoptosis in MMP-8 -/- mice (Gueders *et al.* 2004). During the development of hyperoxic lung injury, a large number of infiltrating inflammatory cells exist in the rat lung (Barry and Crapo 1985). Whether the role of MMP-8 in hyperoxic lung injury is anti-inflammatory cell apoptosis– remains a subject for future research.

### CONCLUSIONS

1) Higher levels of MMP-8 in association with lower levels of TIMP-2 were detected in TAF from preterm infants with more severe respiratory distress. In addition, MMP-8 was higher in TAF during the early postnatal period in those preterm infants who subsequently developed BPD.

2) During the early postnatal period, higher pulmonary concentrations of trypsinogen-2 appeared in preterm infants with more severe acute respiratory distress and in those who later developed BPD. In addition, the ratio of trypsinogen-2 to its specific inhibitor TATI was higher in these infants.

3) In the injured preterm lung, trypsin-2 was expressed in the bronchial and alveolar epithelium, where it co-localized with  $PAR_2$ . The level of  $PAR_2$  expression was higher in bronchial and alveolar epithelium in preterm infants who had died of prolonged RDS

than in newborn infants without histological signs of RDS. In prolonged RDS and BPD,  $PAR_2$  also occurred in myofibroblasts of the thickened and fibrotic alveolar walls. These findings suggest that activation of  $PAR_2$  by high levels of trypsin-2 may participate in pulmonary inflammation and fibroproliferation associated with the development of BPD.

4) In rats exposed to hyperoxia, pulmonary levels of trypsin and MMP-8 sharply increased after 48 hours of exposure relative to levels innormoxia controls. Although alveolar epithelium was predominantly negative in controls, after 48 hours of hyperoxia it showed strong expression of trypsin. Marked up-regulation of trypsin and MMP-8 early in the course of hyperoxic lung injury suggests that they may play a role in the pathogenesis of acute lung injury.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, University of Helsinki, and at the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki. I wish to sincerely thank Professor Emeritus Jaakko Perheentupa and Professor Mikael Knip, the former and present Heads of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents, and Professor Erkki Savilahti, the Head of its Research Laboratory, as well as Professor Jukka H. Meuerman and Professor Jarkko Hietanen, the former and present Deans of the Institute of Dentistry, for providing excellent research facilities.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Docent Sture Andersson for excellent guidance, continuous support, and for his voluntary help on many occasions during these years. I am most grateful to my supervisor Professor Timo Sorsa for his inspiring guidance and optimistic attitude throughout this project.

Professors Jorma Keski-Oja and Pekka Kääpä, the official referees of this thesis, are gratefully acknowledged for expert review of the dissertation, and for their constructive critisism and valuable comments. Jorma Keski-Oja and Anneli Kari, the two members of my thesis committee, are thanked for their interest and friendly advices during this thesis project. Professor Markku Heikinheimo, the Head of the Pediatric Graduate School, is thanked for his positive attitude and support toward young scientists at the Hospital for Children and Adolescents.

I cordially thank all my co-authors. Special thanks are due to Docent Cai Haglund and Professor Ulf-Håkan Stenman for fruitful and inspiring collaboration; Professor Morley D. Hollenberg for collaboration and sharing his knowledge in proteinase-activated receptors; Taina Tervahartiala for pleasant and most valuable cooperation: Päivi Heikkilä for help with analysis of immunohistochemical stainings and for guidance to pathology of lung injury in the preterm infant; Kaisa Salmenkivi, for help with analysis of immunohistochemical stainings on rat lung samples; Patrik Lassus, for helping me to get started with StatView; and Joakim Janer, for taking good care of the rats while I was taking care of my babies.

I am grateful to Elina Laitinen and Päivi Peltokangas for skilful immunohistochemical stainings and pleasant co-work; Marita Suni for help with patient charts; personnel of the neonatal intensive care unit of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents for kind co-operation; and Kirsti Kari, Head of the Scientific Laboratory of the Institute of Dentistry, for practical help with various matters.

I express my sincere gratitude to Carol Norris, PhD, for skilful revision of the language.

I warmly thank Marjatta Vallas, not only for excellent laboratory work, but also for her support and interest in this project; my colleagues Riikka Turunen and Otto Helve, all other colleagues, and the personnel at the Research Laboratory of the Hospital for Children and Adolescents for cheerful company during these years.

All my friends, many thanks for your support and enjoyable moments spent together. Especially, I want to thank Kata and Samppa Ruohtula, Mirva and Ronny Viljanen, Ulla and Petrus Kautto, Teemu Huttunen and Miira Tuominen, Annika Bertlin, Mia Westerholm-Ormio, Seija Säynevirta, and all of you in the Polytech Salong Orchestra.

My warmest thanks to my mother Marjaleena and my father Leo for their love and care, and to my father's wife Riitta for all her support and help. My loving thanks to my sisters Hanna and Maija and their families for their support and encouragement. I also thank Hanna and Maija for excellent teamwork during the past few years. I owe warm thanks to my mother-in-law Saini, who took such good care of our daughters Ava and Eira and of us during the last phase of this project.

I am deeply grateful to my husband Tom for his love, understanding, and support. His expertice in graphic design has been invaluable in making figures of the publications, poster layouts, and now the thesis. Heartfelt thanks, Eira and Ava, for all those funny little things that make our days happy. Tom, Ava, and Eira: I am so lucky to have you in my life!

This study was financially supported by the Finnish Medical Association, the Foundation for the Pediatric Research, the Helsinki University Central Hospital Research Fund, The Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, the University of Helsinki, and the Wilhelm and Else Stockmann Foundation.

Helsinki, July 2006

### REFERENCES

Akers IA, Parsons M, Hill MR, Hollenberg MD, Sanjar S, Laurent GJ, McAnulty RJ. Mast cell tryptase stimulates human lung fibroblast proliferation via protease-activated receptor-2. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 278:L193-201, 2000

Ala-aho R and Kähäri VM. Collagenases in cancer. *Biochimie* 87:273-286, 2005

Al-Ani B, Saifeddine M, Kawabata A, Renaux B, Mokashi S, Hollenberg MD. Proteinase-activated receptor 2 (PAR(2)): Development of a ligandbinding assay correlating with activation of PAR(2) by PAR(1)- and PAR(2)-derived peptide ligands. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 290:753-760, 1999

Alm AK, Gagnemo-Persson R, Sorsa T, Sundelin J. Extrapancreatic trypsin-2 cleaves proteinaseactivated receptor-2. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 275:77-83, 2000

Arden MG and Adamson IY. Collagen degradation during postnatal lung growth in rats. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 14:95-101, 1992

Arden MG, Spearman MA, Adamson IY. Degradation of type IV collagen during the development of fetal rat lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 9:99-105, 1993

Arechavaleta-Velasco F, Marciano D, Diaz-Cueto L, Parry S. Matrix metalloproteinase-8 is expressed in human chorion during labor. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 190:843-850, 2004 Asokananthan N, Graham PT, Fink J, Knight DA, Bakker AJ, McWilliam AS, Thompson PJ, Stewart GA. Activation of protease-activated receptor (PAR)-1, PAR-2, and PAR-4 stimulates IL-6, IL-8, and prostaglandin E2 release from human respiratory epithelial cells. *J Immunol* 168:3577-3585, 2002

Atkinson JJ and Senior RM. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 in lung remodeling. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 28:12-24, 2003

Atkinson JJ, Holmbeck K, Yamada S, Birkedal-Hansen H, Parks WC, Senior RM. Membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase is required for normal alveolar development. *Dev Dyn* 232:1079-1090, 2005

Baker AH, Edwards DR, Murphy G. Metalloproteinase inhibitors: Biological actions and therapeutic opportunities. *J Cell Sci* 115:3719-3727, 2002

Balbin M, Fueyo A, Tester AM, Pendas AM, Pitiot AS, Astudillo A, Overall CM, Shapiro SD, Lopez-Otin C. Loss of collagenase-2 confers increased skin tumor susceptibility to male mice. *Nat Genet* 35:252-257, 2003

Bancalari E, Abdenour GE, Feller R, Gannon J. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia: Clinical presentation. *J Pediatr* 95:819-823, 1979

Bancalari E, Claure N, Sosenko IR. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia: Changes in pathogenesis, epidemiology and definition. *Semin Neonatol* 8:63-71, 2003

Bannikov GA, Karelina TV, Collier IE, Marmer BL, Goldberg GI. Substrate binding of gelatinase B induces its enzymatic activity in the presence of intact propeptide. *J Biol Chem* 277:16022-16027, 2002

Barry BE and Crapo JD. Patterns of accumulation of platelets and neutrophils in rat lungs during exposure to 100% and 85% oxygen. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 132:548-555, 1985

Berger P, Perng DW, Thabrew H, Compton SJ, Cairns JA, McEuen AR, Marthan R, Tunon De Lara JM, Walls AF. Tryptase and agonists of PAR-2 induce the proliferation of human airway smooth muscle cells. *J Appl Physiol* 91:1372-1379, 2001

Betsuyaku T, Nishimura M, Takeyabu K, Tanino M, Venge P, Xu S, Kawakami Y. Neutrophil granule proteins in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from subjects with subclinical emphysema. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 159:1985-1991, 1999

Birkedal-Hansen H, Moore WG, Bodden MK, Windsor LJ, Birkedal-Hansen B, DeCarlo A, Engler JA. Matrix metalloproteinases: A review. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med* 4:197-250, 1993

Björklund M and Koivunen E. Gelatinase-mediated migration and invasion of cancer cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1755:37-69, 2005

Bland R and Coalson JJ. Chronic lung disease in early infancy. New York, Marcel Dekker. 2000

Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal Biochem* 72:248-254, 1976 Brodrick JW, Largman C, Geokas MC, O'Rourke M, Ray SB. Clearance of circulating anionic and cationic pancreatic trypsinogens in the rat. *Am J Physiol* 239:G511-5, 1980

Buckley S and Warburton D. Dynamics of metalloproteinase-2 and -9, TGF-beta, and uPA activities during normoxic vs. hyperoxic alveolarization. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283:L747-54, 2002

Cairns JA. Inhibitors of mast cell tryptase beta as therapeutics for the treatment of asthma and inflammatory disorders. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther* 18:55-66, 2005

Camerer E, Huang W, Coughlin SR. Tissue factorand factor X-dependent activation of proteaseactivated receptor 2 by factor VIIa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:5255-5260, 2000

Carney DE, Lutz CJ, Picone AL, Gatto LA, Ramamurthy NS, Golub LM, Simon SR, Searles B, Paskanik A, Snyder K, Finck C, Schiller HJ, Nieman GF. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor prevents acute lung injury after cardiopulmonary bypass. *Circulation* 100:400-406, 1999

Carp H and Janoff A. Potential mediator of inflammation. phagocyte-derived oxidants suppress the elastase-inhibitory capacity of alpha 1-proteinase inhibitor in vitro. *J Clin Invest* 66:987-995, 1980

Chakrabarti S and Patel KD. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and MMP-9 in pulmonary pathology. *Exp Lung Res* 31:599-621, 2005

Cherukupalli K, Larson JE, Rotschild A, Thurlbeck WM. Biochemical, clinical, and morphologic studies on lungs of infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 22:215-229, 1996

Chua F, Sly PD, Laurent GJ. Pediatric lung disease: From proteinases to pulmonary fibrosis. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 39:392-401, 2005

Churg A, Dai J, Zay K, Karsan A, Hendricks R, Yee C, Martin R, MacKenzie R, Xie C, Zhang L, Shapiro S, Wright JL. Alpha-1-antitrypsin and a broad spectrum metalloprotease inhibitor, RS113456, have similar acute anti-inflammatory effects. *Lab Invest* 81:1119-1131, 2001

Coalson JJ, Winter VT, Siler-Khodr T, Yoder BA. Neonatal chronic lung disease in extremely immature baboons. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 160:1333-1346, 1999

Coalson JJ. Pathology of chronic lung disease of early infancy. New York, Marcel Dekker :85-124, 2000

Coalson JJ. Pathology of new bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Semin Neonatol* 8:73-81, 2003

Cocks TM, Fong B, Chow JM, Anderson GP, Frauman AG, Goldie RG, Henry PJ, Carr MJ, Hamilton JR, Moffatt JD. A protective role for protease-activated receptors in the airways. *Nature* 398:156-160, 1999

Cocks TM and Moffatt JD. Protease-activated receptors: sentries for inflammation? *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 21:103-108, 2000

Cole AA, Chubinskaya S, Schumacher B, Huch K, Szabo G, Yao J, Mikecz K, Hasty KA, Kuettner KE. Chondrocyte matrix metalloproteinase-8. Human articular chondrocytes express neutrophil collagenase. *J Biol Chem* 271:11023-11026, 1996

Corvera CU, Dery O, McConalogue K, Bohm SK, Khitin LM, Caughey GH, Payan DG, Bunnett NW. Mast cell tryptase regulates rat colonic myocytes through proteinase-activated receptor 2. *J Clin Invest* 100:1383-1393, 1997 Coussens LM, Fingleton B, Matrisian LM. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors and cancer: Trials and tribulations. *Science* 295:2387-2392, 2002

Crapo JD, Barry BE, Foscue HA, Shelburne J. Structural and biochemical changes in rat lungs occurring during exposures to lethal and adaptive doses of oxygen. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 122:123-143, 1980

Cunliffe RN, Rose FR, Keyte J, Abberley L, Chan WC, Mahida YR. Human defensin 5 is stored in precursor form in normal paneth cells and is expressed by some villous epithelial cells and by metaplastic paneth cells in the colon in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 48:176-185, 2001

Curley AE, Sweet DG, Thornton CM, O'Hara MD, Chesshyre E, Pizzotti J, Wilbourn MS, Halliday HL, Warner JA. Chorioamnionitis and increased neonatal lung lavage fluid matrix metalloproteinase-9 levels: Implications for antenatal origins of chronic lung disease. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 188:871-875, 2003

Curley AE, Sweet DG, MacMahon KJ, O'Connor CM, Halliday HL. Chorioamnionitis increases matrix metalloproteinase-8 concentrations in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from preterm babies. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed* 89:F61-4, 2004

Danan C, Jarreau PH, Franco ML, Dassieu G, Grillon C, Abd Alsamad I, Lafuma C, Harf A, Delacourt C. Gelatinase activities in the airways of premature infants and development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283:L1086-93, 2002

D'Andrea MR, Derian CK, Leturcq D, Baker SM, Brunmark A, Ling P, Darrow AL, Santulli RJ, Brass LF, Andrade-Gordon P. Characterization of protease-activated receptor-2 immunoreactivity in normal human tissues. *J Histochem Cytochem* 46:157-164, 1998 Danø K, Andreasen PA, Grondahl-Hansen J, Kristensen P, Nielsen LS, Skriver L. Plasminogen activators, tissue degradation, and cancer. *Adv Cancer Res* 44:139-266, 1985

Dery O, Corvera CU, Steinhoff M, Bunnett NW. Proteinase-activated receptors: Novel mechanisms of signaling by serine proteases. *Am J Physiol* 274:1429-1452, 1998

Devaskar UP, Taylor W, Govindrajan R, Malicdem M, Heyman S, deMello DE. Hyperoxia induces interstitial (type I) and increases type IV collagenase mRNA expression and increases type I and IV collagenolytic activity in newborn rat lung. *Biol Neonate* 66:76-85, 1994

Dik WA, De Krijger RR, Bonekamp L, Naber BA, Zimmermann LJ, Versnel MA. Localization and potential role of matrix metalloproteinase-1 and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase-1 and -2 in different phases of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Res* 50:761-766, 2001

Dulon S, Cande C, Bunnett NW, Hollenberg MD, Chignard M, Pidard D. Proteinase-activated receptor-2 and human lung epithelial cells: Disarming by neutrophil serine proteinases. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 28:339-346, 2003

Dunsmore SE and Rannels DE. Extracellular matrix biology in the lung. *Am J Physiol* 270:L3-27, 1996

Dunsmore SE, Saarialho-Kere UK, Roby JD, Wilson CL, Matrisian LM, Welgus HG, Parks WC. Matrilysin expression and function in airway epithelium. *J Clin Invest* 102:1321-1331, 1998

Ehrenkranz RA, Walsh MC, Vohr BR, Jobe AH, Wright LL, Fanaroff AA, Wrage LA, Poole K, National Institutes of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Validation of the national institutes of health consensus definition of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatrics* 116:1353-1360, 2005 Ekekezie II, Thibeault DW, Simon SD, Norberg M, Merrill JD, Ballard RA, Ballard PL, Truog WE. Low levels of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases with a high matrix metalloproteinase-9/tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 ratio are present in tracheal aspirate fluids of infants who develop chronic lung disease. *Pediatrics* 113:1709-1714, 2004

Ferrell WR, Lockhart JC, Kelso EB, Dunning L, Plevin R, Meek SE, Smith AJ, Hunter GD, McLean JS, McGarry F, Ramage R, Jiang L, Kanke T, Kawagoe J. Essential role for proteinase-activated receptor-2 in arthritis. *J Clin Invest* 111:35-41, 2003

Ferry G, Lonchampt M, Pennel L, de Nanteuil G, Canet E, Tucker GC. Activation of MMP-9 by neutrophil elastase in an in vivo model of acute lung injury. *FEBS Lett* 402:111-115, 1997

Figarella C, Miszczuk-Jamska B, Barrett AJ. Possible lysosomal activation of pancreatic zymogens. activation of both human trypsinogens by cathepsin B and spontaneous acid. activation of human trypsinogen 1. *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler* 369:293-298, 1988

Fujimura T, Ohta T, Kitagawa H, Fushida S, Nishimura GI, Yonemura Y, Elnemr A, Miwa K, Nakanuma Y. Trypsinogen expression and early detection for peritoneal dissemination in gastric cancer. *J Surg Oncol* 69:71-75, 1998

Fukuda Y, Ishizaki M, Okada Y, Seiki M, Yamanaka N. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 in fetal rabbit lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 279:L555-61, 2000

Ghosh D, Porter E, Shen B, Lee SK, Wilk D, Drazba J, Yadav SP, Crabb JW, Ganz T, Bevins CL. Paneth cell trypsin is the processing enzyme for human defensin-5. *Nat Immunol* 3:583-590, 2002 Gibbs DF, Shanley TP, Warner RL, Murphy HS, Varani J, Johnson KJ. Role of matrix metalloproteinases in models of macrophagedependent acute lung injury. Evidence for alveolar macrophage as source of proteinases. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 20:1145-1154, 1999

Gill SE, Pape MC, Khokha R, Watson AJ, Leco KJ. A null mutation for tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 (TIMP-3) impairs murine bronchiole branching morphogenesis. *Dev Biol* 261:313-323, 2003

Gipson TS, Bless NM, Shanley TP, Crouch LD, Bleavins MR, Younkin EM, Sarma V, Gibbs DF, Tefera W, McConnell PC, Mueller WT, Johnson KJ, Ward PA. Regulatory effects of endogenous protease inhibitors in acute lung inflammatory injury. *J Immunol* 162:3653-3662, 1999

Golub LM, Lee HM, Ryan ME, Giannobile WV, Payne J, Sorsa T. Tetracyclines inhibit connective tissue breakdown by multiple non-antimicrobial mechanisms. *Adv Dent Res* 12:12-26, 1998

Grishina Z, Ostrowska E, Halangk W, Sahin-Toth M, Reiser G. Activity of recombinant trypsin isoforms on human proteinase-activated receptors (PAR): Mesotrypsin cannot activate epithelial PAR-1, -2, but weakly activates brain PAR-1. *Br J Pharmacol* 146:990-999, 2005

Groneck P, Gotze-Speer B, Oppermann M, Eiffert H, Speer CP. Association of pulmonary inflammation and increased microvascular permeability during the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia: A sequential analysis of inflammatory mediators in respiratory fluids of high-risk preterm neonates. *Pediatrics* 93:712-718, 1994

Gueders MM, Balbin M, Rocks N, Foidart JM, Gosset P, Louis R, Shapiro S, Lopez-Otin C, Noel A, Cataldo DD. Matrix metalloproteinase-8 deficiency promotes granulocytic allergen-induced airway inflammation. *J Immunol* 175:2589-2597, 2005 Gushima Y, Ichikado K, Suga M, Okamoto T, Iyonaga K, Sato K, Miyakawa H, Ando M. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases in pigs with hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury. *Eur Respir J* 18:827-837, 2001

Hallman M, Spragg R, Harrell JH, Moser KM, Gluck L. Evidence of lung surfactant abnormality in respiratory failure. study of bronchoalveolar lavage phospholipids, surface activity, phospholipase activity, and plasma myoinositol. *J Clin Invest* 70:673-683, 1982

Hanemaaijer R, Sorsa T, Konttinen YT, Ding Y, Sutinen M, Visser H, van Hinsbergh VW, Helaakoski T, Kainulainen T, Ronka H, Tschesche H, Salo T. Matrix metalloproteinase-8 is expressed in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts and endothelial cells. Regulation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and doxycycline. *J Biol Chem* 272:31504-31509, 1997

Hansen KK, Sherman PM, Cellars L, Andrade-Gordon P, Pan Z, Baruch A, Wallace JL, Hollenberg MD, Vergnolle N. A major role for proteolytic activity and proteinase-activated receptor-2 in the pathogenesis of infectious colitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:8363-8368, 2005

Hartwig W, Werner J, Jimenez RE, Z'graggen K, Weimann J, Lewandrowski KB, Warshaw AL, Fernandez-del Castillo C. Trypsin and activation of circulating trypsinogen contribute to pancreatitis-associated lung injury. *Am J Physiol* 277:G1008-16, 1999

Hartwig W, Werner J, Warshaw AL, Antoniu B, Castillo CF, Gebhard MM, Uhl W, Buchler MW. Membrane-bound ICAM-1 is upregulated by trypsin and contributes to leukocyte migration in acute pancreatitis. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 287:G1194-G1199, 2004

Hasty KA, Hibbs MS, Kang AH, Mainardi CL. Secreted forms of human neutrophil collagenase. *J Biol Chem* 261:5645-5650, 1986 Hiemstra PS, van Wetering S, Stolk J. Neutrophil serine proteinases and defensins in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Effects on pulmonary epithelium. *Eur Respir J* 12:1200-1208, 1998

Hiemstra PS. Novel roles of protease inhibitors in infection and inflammation. *Biochem Soc Trans* 30:116-120, 2002

Hollenberg MD and Compton SJ. International union of pharmacology. XXVIII. proteinaseactivated receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* 54:203-217, 2002

Holopainen JM, Moilanen JA, Sorsa T, Kivela-Rajamäki M, Tervahartiala T, Vesaluoma MH, Tervo TM. Activation of matrix metalloproteinase-8 by membrane type 1-MMP and their expression in human tears after photorefractive keratectomy. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 44:2550-2556, 2003

Hooper JD, Clements JA, Quigley JP, Antalis TM. Type II transmembrane serine proteases. insights into an emerging class of cell surface proteolytic enzymes. *J Biol Chem* 276:857-860, 2001

Hosford GE, Fang X, Olson DM. Hyperoxia decreases matrix metalloproteinase-9 and increases tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1 protein in the newborn rat lung: Association with arrested alveolarization. *Pediatr Res* 56:26-34, 2004

Huhtala ML, Pesonen K, Kalkkinen N, Stenman UH. Purification and characterization of a tumorassociated trypsin inhibitor from the urine of a patient with ovarian cancer. *J Biol Chem* 257:13713-13716, 1982

Inada M, Wang Y, Byrne MH, Rahman MU, Miyaura C, Lopez-Otin C, Krane SM. Critical roles for collagenase-3 (Mmp13) in development of growth plate cartilage and in endochondral ossification. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:17192-17197, 2004 Ishihara H, Connolly AJ, Zeng D, Kahn ML, Zheng YW, Timmons C, Tram T, Coughlin SR. Proteaseactivated receptor 3 is a second thrombin receptor in humans. *Nature* 386:502-506, 1997

Itkonen O, Koivunen E, Hurme M, Alfthan H, Schroder T, Stenman UH. Time-resolved immunofluorometric assays for trypsinogen-1 and 2 in serum reveal preferential elevation of trypsinogen-2 in pancreatitis. *J Lab Clin Med* 115:712-718, 1990

Itoh Y and Nagase H. Preferential inactivation of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 that is bound to the precursor of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (progelatinase B) by human neutrophil elastase. *J Biol Chem* 270:16518-16521, 1995

Jobe AH and Bancalari E. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 163:1723-1729, 2001

Jobe AH. Antenatal factors and the development of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Semin Neonatol* 8:9-17, 2003

Kawabata A. Gastrointestinal functions of proteinase-activated receptors. *Life Sci* 74:247-254, 2003

Kawano N, Osawa H, Ito T, Nagashima Y, Hirahara F, Inayama Y, Nakatani Y, Kimura S, Kitajima H, Koshikawa N, Miyazaki K, Kitamura H. Expression of gelatinase A, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2, matrilysin, and trypsin(ogen) in lung neoplasms: An immunohistochemical study. *Hum Pathol* 28:613-622, 1997

Kelso EB, Lockhart JC, Hembrough T, Dunning L, Plevin R, Hollenberg MD, Sommerhoff CP, McLean JS, Ferrell WR. Therapeutic promise of PAR antagonism in joint inflammation. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 316:1017-1024, 2006 Kheradmand F, Rishi K, Werb Z. Signaling through the EGF receptor controls lung morphogenesis in part by regulating MT1-MMP-mediated activation of gelatinase A/MMP2. *J Cell Sci* 115:839-848, 2002

Kim KH, Burkhart K, Chen P, Frevert CW, Randolph-Habecker J, Hackman RC, Soloway PD, Madtes DK. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 deficiency amplifies acute lung injury in bleomycinexposed mice. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 33:271-279, 2005

Kinsella JP, Parker TA, Galan H, Sheridan BC, Halbower AC, Abman SH. Effects of inhaled nitric oxide on pulmonary edema and lung neutrophil accumulation in severe experimental hyaline membrane disease. *Pediatr Res* 41:457-463, 1997

Knight DA, Lim S, Scaffidi AK, Roche N, Chung KF, Stewart GA, Thompson PJ. Protease-activated receptors in human airways: Upregulation of PAR-2 in respiratory epithelium from patients with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 108:797-803, 2001

Knäuper V, Kramer S, Reinke H, Tschesche H. Characterization and activation of procollagenase from human polymorphonuclear leucocytes. N-terminal sequence determination of the proenzyme and various proteolytically activated forms. *Eur J Biochem* 189:295-300, 1990

Knäuper V, Wilhelm SM, Seperack PK, DeClerck YA, Langley KE, Osthues A, Tschesche H. Direct activation of human neutrophil procollagenase by recombinant stromelysin. *Biochem J* 295:581-586, 1993

Knäuper V, Lopez-Otin C, Smith B, Knight G, Murphy G. Biochemical characterization of human collagenase-3. *J Biol Chem* 271:1544-1550, 1996 Koivunen E, Huhtala ML, Stenman UH. Human ovarian tumor-associated trypsin. its purification and characterization from mucinous cyst fluid and identification as an activator of pro-urokinase. *J Biol Chem* 264:14095-14099, 1989

Koivunen E, Saksela O, Itkonen O, Osman S, Huhtala ML, Stenman UH. Human colon carcinoma, fibrosarcoma and leukemia cell lines produce tumor-associated trypsinogen. *Int J Cancer* 47:592-596, 1991

Kong W, McConalogue K, Khitin LM, Hollenberg MD, Payan DG, Bohm SK, Bunnett NW. Luminal trypsin may regulate enterocytes through proteinase-activated receptor 2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94:8884-8889, 1997

Koppel R, Han RN, Cox D, Tanswell AK, Rabinovitch M. Alpha 1-antitrypsin protects neonatal rats from pulmonary vascular and parenchymal effects of oxygen toxicity. *Pediatr Res* 36:763-770, 1994

Koshikawa N, Yasumitsu H, Umeda M, Miyazaki K. Multiple secretion of matrix serine proteinases by human gastric carcinoma cell lines. *Cancer Res* 52:5046-5053, 1992

Koshikawa N, Nagashima Y, Miyagi Y, Mizushima H, Yanoma S, Yasumitsu H, Miyazaki K. Expression of trypsin in vascular endothelial cells. *FEBS Lett* 409:442-448, 1997

Koshikawa N, Hasegawa S, Nagashima Y, Mitsuhashi K, Tsubota Y, Miyata S, Miyagi Y, Yasumitsu H, Miyazaki K. Expression of trypsin by epithelial cells of various tissues, leukocytes, and neurons in human and mouse. *Am J Pathol* 153:937-944, 1998

Kotecha S, Wangoo A, Silverman M, Shaw RJ. Increase in the concentration of transforming growth factor beta-1 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid before development of chronic lung disease of prematurity. *J Pediatr* 128:464-469, 1996 Lambert E, Dasse E, Haye B, Petitfrere E. TIMPs as multifacial proteins. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 49:187-198, 2004

Lee WL and Downey GP. Leukocyte elastase: Physiological functions and role in acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164:896-904, 2001

Lemons JA, Bauer CR, Oh W, Korones SB, Papile LA, Stoll BJ, Verter J, Temprosa M, Wright LL, Ehrenkranz RA, Fanaroff AA, Stark A, Carlo W, Tyson JE, Donovan EF, Shankaran S, Stevenson DK. Very low birth weight outcomes of the national institute of child health and human development neonatal research network, january 1995 through december 1996. NICHD neonatal research network. *Pediatrics* 107:E1, 2001

Li Q, Park PW, Wilson CL, Parks WC. Matrilysin shedding of syndecan-1 regulates chemokine mobilization and transepithelial efflux of neutrophils in acute lung injury. *Cell* 111:635-646, 2002

Lijnen HR. Elements of the fibrinolytic system. Ann N Y Acad Sci 936:226-236, 2001

Liu Z, Zhou X, Shapiro SD, Shipley JM, Twining SS, Diaz LA, Senior RM, Werb Z. The serpin alpha1-proteinase inhibitor is a critical substrate for gelatinase B/MMP-9 in vivo. *Cell* 102:647-655, 2000

Liu Z, Li N, Diaz LA, Shipley M, Senior RM, Werb Z. Synergy between a plasminogen cascade and MMP-9 in autoimmune disease. *J Clin Invest* 115:879-887, 2005

Lohi J, Harvima I, Keski-Oja J. Pericellular substrates of human mast cell tryptase: 72,000 dalton gelatinase and fibronectin. *J Cell Biochem* 50:337-349, 1992 Lütcke H, Rausch U, Vasiloudes P, Scheele GA, Kern HF. A fourth trypsinogen (P23) in the rat pancreas induced by CCK. *Nucleic Acids Res* 17:6736, 1989

Lyle RE, Tryka AF, Griffin WS, Taylor BJ. Tryptase immunoreactive mast cell hyperplasia in bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 19:336-343, 1995

Macfarlane SR, Seatter MJ, Kanke T, Hunter GD, Plevin R. Proteinase-activated receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* 53:245-282, 2001

Marchbank T, Freeman TC, Playford RJ. Human pancreatic secretory trypsin inhibitor. Distribution, actions and possible role in mucosal integrity and repair. *Digestion* 59:167-174, 1998

Masumoto K, de Rooij JD, Suita S, Rottier R, Tibboel D, de Krijger RR. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases during normal human pulmonary development. *Histopathology* 47:410-419, 2005

Matsushima R, Takahashi A, Nakaya Y, Maezawa H, Miki M, Nakamura Y, Ohgushi F, Yasuoka S. Human airway trypsin-like protease stimulates human bronchial fibroblast proliferation in a protease-activated receptor-2-dependent pathway. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 290:L385-95, 2006

Mazzieri R, Masiero L, Zanetta L, Monea S, Onisto M, Garbisa S, Mignatti P. Control of type IV collagenase activity by components of the urokinase-plasmin system: A regulatory mechanism with cell-bound reactants. *EMBO J* 16:2319-2332, 1997

McMillan SJ, Kearley J, Campbell JD, Zhu XW, Larbi KY, Shipley JM, Senior RM, Nourshargh S, Lloyd CM. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 deficiency results in enhanced allergen-induced airway inflammation. *J Immunol* 172:2586-2594, 2004 McQuibban GA, Gong JH, Wong JP, Wallace JL, Clark-Lewis I, Overall CM. Matrix metalloproteinase processing of monocyte chemoattractant proteins generates CC chemokine receptor antagonists with antiinflammatory properties in vivo. *Blood* 100:1160-1167, 2002

Melendez J, Maldonado V, Bingle CD, Selman M, Pardo A. Cloning and expression of guinea pig TIMP-2. expression in normal and hyperoxic lung injury. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 278: L737-43, 2000

Merritt TA, Cochrane CG, Holcomb K, Bohl B, Hallman M, Strayer D, Edwards DK,3rd, Gluck L. Elastase and alpha 1-proteinase inhibitor activity in tracheal aspirates during respiratory distress syndrome. role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *J Clin Invest* 72:656-666, 1983

Moilanen M, Sorsa T, Stenman M, Nyberg P, Lindy O, Vesterinen J, Paju A, Konttinen YT, Stenman UH, Salo T. Tumor-associated trypsinogen-2 (trypsinogen-2) activates procollagenases (MMP-1, -8, -13) and stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) and degrades type I collagen. *Biochemistry* 42:5414-5420, 2003

Moraes TJ, Chow CW, Downey GP. Proteases and lung injury. *Crit Care Med* 31:S189-94, 2003

Mulligan MS, Desrochers PE, Chinnaiyan AM, Gibbs DF, Varani J, Johnson KJ, Weiss SJ. In vivo suppression of immune complex-induced alveolitis by secretory leukoproteinase inhibitor and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:11523-11527, 1993

Murch SH, Costeloe K, Klein NJ, MacDonald TT. Early production of macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha occurs in respiratory distress syndrome and is associated with poor outcome. *Pediatr Res* 40:490-497, 1996 Murphy G, Stanton H, Cowell S, Butler G, Knäuper V, Atkinson S, Gavrilovic J. Mechanisms for pro matrix metalloproteinase activation. *APMIS* 107:38-44, 1999

Nagase H and Woessner JF,Jr. Matrix metalloproteinases. *J Biol Chem* 274:21491-21494, 1999

Nagase H, Visse R, Murphy G. Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs. *Cardiovasc Res* 69:562-573, 2006

Nakamura H, Yoshimura K, McElvaney NG, Crystal RG. Neutrophil elastase in respiratory epithelial lining fluid of individuals with cystic fibrosis induces interleukin-8 gene expression in a human bronchial epithelial cell line. *J Clin Invest* 89:1478-1484, 1992

Narasaraju TA, Jin N, Narendranath CR, Chen Z, Gou D, Liu L. Protein nitration in rat lungs during hyperoxia exposure: A possible role of myeloperoxidase. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 285:L1037-45, 2003

Nieman GF and Zerler BR. A role for the antiinflammatory properties of tetracyclines in the prevention of acute lung injury. *Curr Med Chem* 8:317-325, 2001

Nishio K, Suzuki Y, Aoki T, Suzuki K, Miyata A, Sato N, Naoki K, Kudo H, Tsumura H, Serizawa H, Morooka S, Ishimura Y, Suematsu M, Yamaguchi K. Differential contribution of various adhesion molecules to leukocyte kinetics in pulmonary microvessels of hyperoxia-exposed rat lungs. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 157:599-609, 1998

Northway WH,Jr, Rosan RC, Porter DY. Pulmonary disease following respirator therapy of hyaline-membrane disease. bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *N Engl J Med* 276:357-368, 1967 Northway WHJ. Historical perspective: Early observations and subsequent evolution of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. New York, Marcel Dekker 1-19, 2000

Nuttall RK, Sampieri CL, Pennington CJ, Gill SE, Schultz GA, Edwards DR. Expression analysis of the entire MMP and TIMP gene families during mouse tissue development. *FEBS Lett* 563:129-134, 2004

Nystedt S, Emilsson K, Wahlestedt C, Sundelin J. Molecular cloning of a potential proteinase activated receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:9208-9212, 1994

Nystedt S, Emilsson K, Larsson AK, Strombeck B, Sundelin J. Molecular cloning and functional expression of the gene encoding the human proteinase-activated receptor 2. *Eur J Biochem* 232:84-89, 1995

Nystedt S, Ramakrishnan V, Sundelin J. The proteinase-activated receptor 2 is induced by inflammatory mediators in human endothelial cells. Comparison with the thrombin receptor. *J Biol Chem* 271:14910-14915, 1996

Ogden BE, Murphy SA, Saunders GC, Pathak D, Johnson JD. Neonatal lung neutrophils and elastase/proteinase inhibitor imbalance. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 130:817-821, 1984

Ohlsson K. Acute pancreatitis. biochemical, pathophysiological and therapeutics aspects. *Acta Gastroenterol Belg* 51:3-12, 1988

Opdenakker G, Van den Steen PE, Dubois B, Nelissen I, Van Coillie E, Masure S, Proost P, Van Damme J. Gelatinase B functions as regulator and effector in leukocyte biology. *J Leukoc Biol* 69:851-859, 2001 Osman S, Turpeinen U, Itkonen O, Stenman UH. Optimization of a time-resolved immunofluorometric assay for tumor-associated trypsin inhibitor (TATI) using the streptavidin-biotin system. *J Immunol Methods* 161:97-106, 1993

Ossovskaya VS and Bunnett NW. Proteaseactivated receptors: Contribution to physiology and disease. *Physiol Rev* 84:579-621, 2004

Ouellette AJ and Selsted ME. Paneth cell defensins: Endogenous peptide components of intestinal host defense. *FASEB J* 10:1280-1289, 1996

Owen CA, Campbell MA, Sannes PL, Boukedes SS, Campbell EJ. Cell surface-bound elastase and cathepsin G on human neutrophils: A novel, non-oxidative mechanism by which neutrophils focus and preserve catalytic activity of serine proteinases. *J Cell Biol* 131:775-789, 1995

Owen CA, Hu Z, Barrick B, Shapiro SD. Inducible expression of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-resistant matrix metalloproteinase-9 on the cell surface of neutrophils. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 29:283-294, 2003

Owen CA, Hu Z, Lopez-Otin C, Shapiro SD. Membrane-bound matrix metalloproteinase-8 on activated polymorphonuclear cells is a potent, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-resistant collagenase and serpinase. *J Immunol* 172:7791-7803, 2004

Owen CA, Zhuang Y, Quintero P, Lopez-Otin C, Shapiro SD. MMP-8 has a novel, anti-inflammatory role in acute lung injury. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 2: A148, 2005

Pagano A and Barazzone-Argiroffo C. Alveolar cell death in hyperoxia-induced lung injury. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1010:405-416, 2003

Paju A, Sorsa T, Tervahartiala T, Koivunen E, Haglund C, Leminen A, Wahlström T, Salo T, Stenman UH. The levels of trypsinogen isoenzymes in ovarian tumour cyst fluids are associated with promatrix metalloproteinase-9 but not promatrix metalloproteinase-2 activation. *Br J Cancer* 84:1363-1371, 2001

Pardo A, Selman M, Ridge K, Barrios R, Sznajder JI. Increased expression of gelatinases and collagenase in rat lungs exposed to 100% oxygen. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 154:1067-1075, 1996

Pardo A, Barrios R, Maldonado V, Melendez J, Perez J, Ruiz V, Segura-Valdez L, Sznajder JI, Selman M. Gelatinases A and B are up-regulated in rat lungs by subacute hyperoxia: Pathogenetic implications. *Am J Pathol* 153:833-844, 1998

Pardo A and Selman M. MMP-1: The elder of the family. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 37:283-288, 2005

Parks WC and Shapiro SD. Matrix metalloproteinases in lung biology. *Respir Res* 2:10-19, 2001

Parks WC, Wilson CL, Lopez-Boado YS. Matrix metalloproteinases as modulators of inflammation and innate immunity. *Nature Rev Immunol* 4:617-629, 2004

Pirilä E, Ramamurthy N, Maisi P, McClain S, Kucine A, Wahlgren J, Golub L, Salo T, Sorsa T. Wound healing in ovariectomized rats: Effects of chemically modified tetracycline (CMT-8) and estrogen on matrix metalloproteinases -8, -13 and type I collagen expression. *Curr Med Chem* 8:281-294, 2001

Prikk K, Maisi P, Pirilä E, Sepper R, Salo T, Wahlgren J, Sorsa T. In vivo collagenase-2 (MMP-8) expression by human bronchial epithelial cells and monocytes/macrophages in bronchiectasis. *J Pathol* 194:232-238, 2001a Prikk K, Maisi P, Sepper R, Stenman UH, Salo T, Sorsa T. Association of trypsin-2 with activation of gelatinase B and collagenase-2 in human bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in vivo. *Ann Med* 33:437-444, 2001b

Prikk K, Maisi P, Pirilä E, Reintam MA, Salo T, Sorsa T, Sepper R. Airway obstruction correlates with collagenase-2 (MMP-8) expression and activation in bronchial asthma. *Lab Invest* 82:1535-1545, 2002

Pugin J, Verghese G, Widmer MC, Matthay MA. The alveolar space is the site of intense inflammatory and profibrotic reactions in the early phase of acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Crit Care Med* 27:304-312, 1999

Ricciardolo FL, Steinhoff M, Amadesi S, Guerrini R, Tognetto M, Trevisani M, Creminon C, Bertrand C, Bunnett NW, Fabbri LM, Salvadori S, Geppetti P. Presence and bronchomotor activity of protease-activated receptor-2 in guinea pig airways. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 161:1672-1680, 2000

Ricou B, Nicod L, Lacraz S, Welgus HG, Suter PM, Dayer JM. Matrix metalloproteinases and TIMP in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 154:346-352, 1996

Rinderknecht H, Renner IG, Abramson SB, Carmack C. Mesotrypsin: A new inhibitor-resistant protease from a zymogen in human pancreatic tissue and fluid. *Gastroenterology* 86:681-692, 1984

Roth-Kleiner M and Post M. Similarities and dissimilarities of branching and septation during lung development. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 40:113-134, 2005

Royston BD, Webster NR, Nunn JF. Time course of changes in lung permeability and edema in the rat exposed to 100% oxygen. *J Appl Physiol* 69:1532-1537, 1990 Ryu J, Vicencio AG, Yeager ME, Kashgarian M, Haddad GG, Eickelberg O. Differential expression of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in human and mouse lung development. *Thromb Haemost* 94:175-183, 2005

Saari H, Suomalainen K, Lindy O, Konttinen YT, Sorsa T. Activation of latent human neutrophil collagenase by reactive oxygen species and serine proteases. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 171:979-987, 1990

Sallenave JM. Antimicrobial activity of antiproteinases. *Biochem Soc Trans* 30:111-115, 2002

Sambrano GR, Huang W, Faruqi T, Mahrus S, Craik C, Coughlin SR. Cathepsin G activates protease-activated receptor-4 in human platelets. *J Biol Chem* 275:6819-6823, 2000

Saugstad OD. Bronchopulmonary dysplasiaoxidative stress and antioxidants. *Semin Neonatol* 8:39-49, 2003

Scheele G, Bartelt D, Bieger W. Characterization of human exocrine pancreatic proteins by twodimensional isoelectric focusing/sodium dodecyl sulfate gel electrophoresis. *Gastroenterology* 80:461-473, 1981

Schmidlin F, Amadesi S, Vidil R, Trevisani M, Martinet N, Caughey G, Tognetto M, Cavallesco G, Mapp C, Geppetti P, Bunnett NW. Expression and function of proteinase-activated receptor 2 in human bronchial smooth muscle. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164:1276-1281, 2001

Schmidlin F, Amadesi S, Dabbagh K, Lewis DE, Knott P, Bunnett NW, Gater PR, Geppetti P, Bertrand C, Stevens ME. Protease-activated receptor 2 mediates eosinophil infiltration and hyperreactivity in allergic inflammation of the airway. *J Immunol* 169:5315-5321, 2002 Schock BC, Sweet DG, Ennis M, Warner JA, Young IS, Halliday HL. Oxidative stress and increased type-IV collagenase levels in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from newborn babies. *Pediatr Res* 50:29-33, 2001

Schonbeck U, Mach F, Libby P. Generation of biologically active IL-1 beta by matrix metalloproteinases: A novel caspase-1independent pathway of IL-1 beta processing. *J Immunol* 161:3340-3346, 1998

Shapiro SD. Neutrophil elastase: Path clearer, pathogen killer, or just pathologic? *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 26:266-268, 2002

Shennan AT, Dunn MS, Ohlsson A, Lennox K, Hoskins EM. Abnormal pulmonary outcomes in premature infants: Prediction from oxygen requirement in the neonatal period. *Pediatrics* 82:527-532, 1988

Shibata T, Ogawa M, Takata N, Matsuda K, Niinobu T, Uda K, Wakasugi C, Mori T. Distribution of pancreatic secretory trypsin inhibitor in various human tissues and its inactivation in the gastric mucosa. *Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol* 55:243-248, 1987

Sommerhoff CP. Mast cell tryptases and airway remodeling. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164:S52-8, 2001

Sorsa T, Ding Y, Salo T, Lauhio A, Teronen O, Ingman T, Ohtani H, Andoh N, Takeha S, Konttinen YT. Effects of tetracyclines on neutrophil, gingival, and salivary collagenases. A functional and western-blot assessment with special reference to their cellular sources in periodontal diseases. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 732:112-131, 1994

Sorsa T, Salo T, Koivunen E, Tyynela J, Konttinen YT, Bergmann U, Tuuttila A, Niemi E, Teronen O, Heikkila P, Tschesche H, Leinonen J, Osman S, Stenman UH. Activation of type IV procollagenases by human tumor-associated trypsin-2. *J Biol Chem* 272:21067-21074, 1997 Speer CP, Ruess D, Harms K, Herting E, Gefeller O. Neutrophil elastase and acute pulmonary damage in neonates with severe respiratory distress syndrome. *Pediatrics* 91:794-799, 1993

Speer CP. Inflammation and bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Semin Neonatol* 8:29-38, 2003

Stamenkovic I. Extracellular matrix remodelling: The role of matrix metalloproteinases. *J Pathol* 200:448-464, 2003

Steinberg J, Halter J, Schiller H, Gatto L, Carney D, Lee HM, Golub L, Nieman G. Chemically modified tetracycline prevents the development of septic shock and acute respiratory distress syndrome in a clinically applicable porcine model. *Shock* 24:348-356, 2005

Steinhoff M, Vergnolle N, Young SH, Tognetto M, Amadesi S, Ennes HS, Trevisani M, Hollenberg MD, Wallace JL, Caughey GH, Mitchell SE, Williams LM, Geppetti P, Mayer EA, Bunnett NW. Agonists of proteinase-activated receptor 2 induce inflammation by a neurogenic mechanism. *Nat Med* 6:151-158, 2000

Steinhoff M, Buddenkotte J, Shpacovitch V, Rattenholl A, Moormann C, Vergnolle N, Luger TA, Hollenberg MD. Proteinase-activated receptors: Transducers of proteinase-mediated signaling in inflammation and immune response. *Endocr Rev* 26:1-43, 2005

Stenman M, Ainola M, Valmu L, Bjartell A, Ma G, Stenman UH, Sorsa T, Luukkainen R, Konttinen YT. Trypsin-2 degrades human type II collagen and is expressed and activated in mesenchymally transformed rheumatoid arthritis synovitis tissue. *Am J Pathol* 167:1119-1124, 2005

Stenman UH, Koivunen E, Vuento M. Characterization of a tumor-associated serine protease. *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler* 369:9-14, 1988 Stetler-Stevenson WG and Seo DW. TIMP-2: An endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis. *Trends Mol Med* 11:97-103, 2005

Stevenson DK, Wright LL, Lemons JA, Oh W, Korones SB, Papile LA, Bauer CR, Stoll BJ, Tyson JE, Shankaran S, Fanaroff AA, Donovan EF, Ehrenkranz RA, Verter J. Very low birth weight outcomes of the national institute of child health and human development neonatal research network, january 1993 through december 1994. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 179:1632-1639, 1998

Stiskal JA, Dunn MS, Shennan AT, O'Brien KK, Kelly EN, Koppel RI, Cox DW, Ito S, Chappel SL, Rabinovitch M. alpha1-proteinase inhibitor therapy for the prevention of chronic lung disease of prematurity: A randomized, controlled trial. *Pediatrics* 101:89-94, 1998

Strongin AY, Collier I, Bannikov G, Marmer BL, Grant GA, Goldberg GI. Mechanism of cell surface activation of 72-kDa type IV collagenase. isolation of the activated form of the membrane metalloprotease. *J Biol Chem* 270:5331-5338, 1995

Su X, Camerer E, Hamilton JR, Coughlin SR, Matthay MA. Protease-activated receptor-2 activation induces acute lung inflammation by neuropeptide-dependent mechanisms. *J Immunol* 175:2598-2605, 2005

Sweet DG, McMahon KJ, Curley AE, O'Connor CM, Halliday HL. Type I collagenases in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from preterm babies at risk of developing chronic lung disease. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed* 84:F168-71, 2001

Sweet DG, Curley AE, Chesshyre E, Pizzotti J, Wilbourn MS, Halliday HL, Warner JA. The role of matrix metalloproteinases -9 and -2 in development of neonatal chronic lung disease. *Acta Paediatr* 93:791-796, 2004

Swystun V, Chen L, Factor P, Siroky B, Bell PD, Matalon S. Apical trypsin increases ion transport and resistance by a phospholipase C-dependent rise of Ca2+. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 288:820-830, 2005

Takahashi M, Sano T, Yamaoka K, Kamimura T, Umemoto N, Nishitani H, Yasuoka S. Localization of human airway trypsin-like protease in the airway: An immunohistochemical study. *Histochem Cell Biol* 115:181-187, 2001

Tambunting F, Beharry KD, Hartleroad J, Waltzman J, Stavitsky Y, Modanlou HD. Increased lung matrix metalloproteinase-9 levels in extremely premature baboons with bronchopulmonary dysplasia. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 39:5-14, 2005

Torii K, Iida K, Miyazaki Y, Saga S, Kondoh Y, Taniguchi H, Taki F, Takagi K, Matsuyama M, Suzuki R. Higher concentrations of matrix metalloproteinases in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with adult respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 155:43-46, 1997

Toti P, Buonocore G, Tanganelli P, Catella AM, Palmeri ML, Vatti R, Seemayer TA. Bronchopulmonary dysplasia of the premature baby: An immunohistochemical study. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 24:22-28, 1997

Towatari T, Ide M, Ohba K, Chiba Y, Murakami M, Shiota M, Kawachi M, Yamada H, Kido H. Identification of ectopic anionic trypsin I in rat lungs potentiating pneumotropic virus infectivity and increased enzyme level after virus infection. *Eur J Biochem* 269:2613-2621, 2002

Varsila E, Pesonen E, Andersson S. Early protein oxidation in the neonatal lung is related to development of chronic lung disease. *Acta Paediatr* 84:1296-1299, 1995 Vartio T and Vaheri A. A gelatin-binding 70,000dalton glycoprotein synthesized distinctly from fibronectin by normal and malignant adherent cells. *J Biol Chem* 256:13085-13090, 1981

Vartio T, Hovi T, Vaheri A. Human macrophages synthesize and secrete a major 95,000-dalton gelatin-binding protein distinct from fibronectin. *J Biol Chem* 257:8862-8866, 1982 Vassalli JD, Sappino AP, Belin D. The plasminogen activator/plasmin system. *J Clin Invest* 88:1067-1072, 1991

Vergnolle N. Proteinase-activated receptor-2activating peptides induce leukocyte rolling, adhesion, and extravasation in vivo. *J Immunol* 163:5064-5069, 1999

Vergnolle N, Hollenberg MD, Sharkey KA, Wallace JL. Characterization of the inflammatory response to proteinase-activated receptor-2 (PAR2)activating peptides in the rat paw. *Br J Pharmacol* 127:1083-1090, 1999

Vermaelen KY, Cataldo D, Tournoy K, Maes T, Dhulst A, Louis R, Foidart JM, Noel A, Pauwels R. Matrix metalloproteinase-9-mediated dendritic cell recruitment into the airways is a critical step in a mouse model of asthma. *J Immunol* 171:1016-1022, 2003

Visse R and Nagase H. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: Structure, function, and biochemistry. *Circ Res* 92:827-839, 2003

Vliagoftis H, Schwingshackl A, Milne CD, Duszyk M, Hollenberg MD, Wallace JL, Befus AD, Moqbel R. Proteinase-activated receptor-2-mediated matrix metalloproteinase-9 release from airway epithelial cells. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 106:537-545, 2000

Vu TH and Werb Z. Matrix metalloproteinases: Effectors of development and normal physiology. *Genes Dev* 14:2123-2133, 2000 Vu TK, Hung DT, Wheaton VI, Coughlin SR. Molecular cloning of a functional thrombin receptor reveals a novel proteolytic mechanism of receptor activation. *Cell* 64:1057-1068, 1991

Wagenaar GT, ter Horst SA, van Gastelen MA, Leijser LM, Mauad T, van der Velden PA, de Heer E, Hiemstra PS, Poorthuis BJ, Walther FJ. Gene expression profile and histopathology of experimental bronchopulmonary dysplasia induced by prolonged oxidative stress. *Free Radic Biol Med* 36:782-801, 2004

Warner BB, Stuart LA, Papes RA, Wispe JR. Functional and pathological effects of prolonged hyperoxia in neonatal mice. *Am J Physiol* 275: L110-7, 1998

Watanabe H, Nakanishi I, Yamashita K, Hayakawa T, Okada Y. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 (92 kDa gelatinase/type IV collagenase) from U937 monoblastoid cells: Correlation with cellular invasion. *J Cell Sci* 104:991-999, 1993

Watterberg KL, Demers LM, Scott SM, Murphy S. Chorioamnionitis and early lung inflammation in infants in whom bronchopulmonary dysplasia develops. *Pediatrics* 97:210-215, 1996

Watts CL and Bruce MC. Comparison of secretory component for immunoglobulin A with albumin as reference proteins in tracheal aspirate from preterm infants. *J Pediatr* 127:113-122, 1995

Weiss SJ. Tissue destruction by neutrophils. *N* Engl J Med 320:365-376, 1989 Westerlund U, Ingman T, Lukinmaa PL, Salo T, Kjeldsen L, Borregaard N, Tjaderhane L, Konttinen YT, Sorsa T. Human neutrophil gelatinase and associated lipocalin in adult and localized juvenile periodontitis. *J Dent Res* 75:1553-1563, 1996

Wewers MD, Herzyk DJ, Gadek JE. Alveolar fluid neutrophil elastase activity in the adult respiratory distress syndrome is complexed to alpha-2macroglobulin. *J Clin Invest* 82:1260-1267, 1988

Wiegand U, Corbach S, Minn A, Kang J, Muller-Hill B. Cloning of the cDNA encoding human brain trypsinogen and characterization of its product. *Gene* 136:167-175, 1993

Xu WF, Andersen H, Whitmore TE, Presnell SR, Yee DP, Ching A, Gilbert T, Davie EW, Foster DC. Cloning and characterization of human proteaseactivated receptor 4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:6642-6646, 1998

Yahagi N, Ichinose M, Matsushima M, Matsubara Y, Miki K, Kurokawa K, Fukamachi H, Tashiro K, Shiokawa K, Kageyama T, Takahashi T, Inoue H, Takahashi K. Complementary DNA cloning and sequencing of rat enteropeptidase and tissue distribution of its mRNA. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 219:806-812, 1996

Yamaoka K, Masuda K, Ogawa H, Takagi K, Umemoto N, Yasuoka S. Cloning and characterization of the cDNA for human airway trypsin-like protease. *J Biol Chem* 273:11895-11901, 1998

Yu Q and Stamenkovic I. Cell surface-localized matrix metalloproteinase-9 proteolytically activates TGF-beta and promotes tumor invasion and angiogenesis. *Genes Dev* 14:163-176, 2000